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RELIGIOUS HERITAGE OF DALE COUNTY 183
DALE COUNTY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION

1908

The first session of the Dale County Baptist Association was
held in 1908 at the Daleville Baptist Church. W. W. Morris ser-
ved as moderator; S. J. Chapman as clerk and treasurer. An
offering of $29.26 was received for foreign missions. The committee
on ministerial education reported that there were fourteen Baptist
ministers at the Newton Baptist School and 40 attending Howard

College.
At the 1964 session held with Hillcrest Baptist Church and

Mount Liberty Baptist Church plans were set in motion for the
Centennial session of the association to be held with Newton,
Ozark and Pleasant Grove Baptist churches. Rev. L. Don Miley
was appointed as Centennial Historian.

DALE COUNTY BAPTIST CHURCHES
October 1, 1965
CHURCH DATE ORGANIZED PASTOR

Ariton 1898 J. L. Willis
Bethel 1870 Roy Hayes
Camp Ground 1929 Wallace Duke
Cedar Grove 1878 Ruben Davis
Chalkhead 1893 Fred Williams
Daleville 1854 John Hardwick
Ebenezer 1842 J. B. Spurlin
Elam 1859 Earnest Lanier
Hillcrest 1932 H. D. Turner
Macedonia 1902 Cullen Andrews
Midland City 1895 W. H. Waters
Midway 1910 Jim Strength
Morgan 1913 L. D. Woodham, Sr.
Mount Enon 1895 Paul Johnston
Mount Pisgah 1849 W. A. Baker
Mount Zion 1858 Tom Thomas
Mount Liberty 1880 Floyd Porter
New Hope 1869 C. R. Johnson

Newton 1840 J. A. Mitchell



184 FORGOTTEN TRAILS

Ozark 1848 L. Don Miley
Peniel 1854 L. D. Woodham, Sr.
Pinckard 1891 A. L. Hayes
Pleasant Grove 1888 J. C. Ogg

Post Oak 1931 Arthur Emfinger
Providence 1849 Huron Polnac
Rocky Head 1889 Henry Rayford
Rocky Mount 1896 Andrew Marshall
Ridgecrest 1960 H. R. Naberhuis
Salem 1868 Bobby Andrews
Southside 1949 William Snellgrove

The total membership of the Baptist churches in 1965 was
8,287. Sunday school enrollment was 5,181 and total gifts were
$310,615.

Johnie Walker serves as associational missionary.

PRIMITIVE BAPTIST CHURCHES

There are three active Primitive Baptist churches in Dale
County.

The oldest church is Pleasant Grove Primitive Baptist Church
of Ozark. This church was constituted in 1840 and is believed to
be the oldest church in the county that is still active. The present
membership is about 40 members. Elder S. W. Ethridge is the
pastor. The church meets for worship each third Saturday and
Sunday of the month.

The Union Primitive Baptist Church at Midland City was con-
stituted in 1894. There are about 40 members and Elder S. W.
Ethridge is the pastor. The church meets each first Sunday of the
month.

The Ozark Primitive Baptist Church was constituted November
1, 1909 with six charter members. Today their membership is a-
bout 52 members. Elder George R. Daniel is the pastor of the
church. The church meets each Sunday for worship at eleven in
the morning and seven in the evening.

There have been other Primitive Baptist churches in the
county. Generally the membership has been small.

OZARK PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH
The Ozark Presbyterian Church was organized in 1889. The



HEBRON

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

Asa Woodham
is referred to as a Trustee of the M. E.

Church in 1838

DArlington County
Deed Book N,

page 143



DARLINGTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

HEBRON METHODIST EPTISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

Hebron Methodist Episcopal CHurch, South was established in what
is now the Stokes Bridge Community. This area in 1840 was part of
DArlington County, South Carolina. Today, it is part of

Lee County.

The 1840 membership roll of Hebron Methodist Church included the
following:

Asa Woodham, C. L.
Jared Woodham

Laney Woodham

The 1840 membership roll is the oldest membershio list known
for Hebron Methodist Church.

Reference:

Darlington Methodist Church Circuit Records
1839-1866, page 58



1874 MEMBERSHIP ROLL

HEBRON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

Darlington County, South Carolina
(area now is part of
Lee County, South Carolina)

Minutes of the Hebron Methodist Episcopal Church, South for 1874:

Members of the Church:

Laney Woodham [ras. fsn woodhsm
H. Middleton Woodham gk middleren Weed D8
John E. Woodham [ Tohn Edusn e

Chas. Welbourne Woodham

A. Edward Woodham

Sarah Woodham [mas, ivhn Fdwaad)

Laney E. Woodham LElAine ELi20heTH .Hd, ,Qj‘ur-ﬁfﬁ"rf
Elizabeth M. Woodham [ mas. Hse

M. Woodham LMoy H wite b MHuagh midd letor

Elizabeth Woodham



HEBRON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

Darlington County, South Carolina
(area now part of
Lee County, South Carolina

1879 Church Minutes of Hebron Methodist Episcopal Church, South

Members of the Church, 1879:

Ella Ca Woodham

Jane Woodham



HEBRON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

DArlington County, South Carolina
(area now part of
Lee County, South Carolina)

Hebron Methodist Episcopal Church, South, Church Minutes of 1880

Members of the Church, 1880:

Queen 8. Woodham



HEBRON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

Darlington County, South Carolina
(area now part of
Lee County, South Carolina)

1881 Church Minutes of Hebron Methodist Episcopal Church, South

Members of the Church, 1881:

Iula L. Woodham



HEBRON

JOHN EDWARD WOODHAM

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, SOUTH

1880

John E. Woodham
is mentioned as a Trustee of the M. E.

Church in 1880



MEMORIES OF HEBRON METHODIST CHURCH

by

SARAH MARTYN WOODHAM
( Martyn )

( Mrs. Benjamin Franklin Skinner Junior )

Hebron Methodist Church, Stokes Bridge Community, Lee County,
South Carolina.

This church was founded in the early 1800's and was known for
many years as Skinner's Meeting House.



(1)
MEMORTES

When 1 was asked to wiite a few memoins of the yeans 1 had played

the piano at Hebron, 1 could almost hear and see my Aunt Eva

Dowling Woodham pointing her finger at me and saying, "1 told you

50". She had advised me to jot down things that happened each day,
dates, bright sayings of the children and anything,even if it seemed
insignificant. She said, "You think you wilf nemember, but you won't."
How thrue! 1 didn't and now 1 don't nemember.

My Love forn Hebron Church (not United then) began at an early age,

in fact, 1 think it was born in me. 1 remember my Grandmother,

Lanie Hearnon Woodham, tedfling about the quanterly meetings at Hebron.
They had "dinner on the grounds" and she canrnied a thunk of food instead
0f a covered dish. The trunk was placed on the buggy with all the
children who were hanging on to whatever they could to keep from

falling off.

Those wene great days! 0f course 1 can'it nemember what happened when
I was a toddlen. Mama did telf me that Jane Beasley(now Duke) and 1
were s0 bad we fust wouldn't s4it in church. Mama said that when she
had to take me out, she would meet Cousin Aurefla bringing Jane L,
and when she brought me back in the church, she would meet Cousin
Aurella taking Jane back out. 1t was hilarnious to hearn this told

but was not funny in the Least to them at that time.

1 believe 1 was eight years old when 1 joined the church. Mr. Henrny
was oun paston and 1 Loved him because he was such a kind and gentle

person.

1 nemembern that duning the winter when we went to church (in the agterncon)
someone would make a fine in the potbellied stove and wsually by the
time church was overn we would be feefing the warmth.

During the summer months we sat on the auditorium-type seats which
smelled o4 varnish, and oun backs would be stuck to them when we stood
up to s4ing. However, the guneral parlons and furniture stores kept
the church supplied with nice fans with beautiful Biblical pictures

on them and 1 nemember Mama fanning me alfl during church.



(2)

14 anyone in the church was feeling the Least bit drowsy they immediately
came to attention when Mr. Vanro Moore blew his nose. He was the fathen
0§ Aunt Era Woodham who had charge of the earliest music that 1 can
nememben. She was the mother of John, Harvey and Jack and was maried o
my Grandfathen's brother, Uncle Ernest Woodham. 1 would Love to know
how many years she faithfully served Hebron Church but 1 don't. Aunt
Era played and sang with alf hen heart and souk.

"What a friend we have in Jesus,

ALEL oun sins and griegs to bean,

ALL because we do not carry
Everything to God 4in prayer."

What a gheat hymn! 1t seemed as if we sang it every Sunday and it has
always seemed Like a Hebron theme song to me.

The servdices were not planned previously, on it seemed that way. 1
nemembern when everybody would get in the church just before "preaching”
stanted, Aunt Era would stand up in the choin and motion with hen §inger
forn different ones in the conghegation to come up and s4ing. Some came
and some didn't but she wsually knew which ones to call. 1t was quite
an honon to be Lnvited into the choin and 1 guess some peoples' feelings
were hurt because maybe they were never asked.

Latern on, my sisten, Eleanon Woodham, played but 1 don't know how Long
on what yearn. Mary Mozingo, Mildred Smith's sisten, played some also.
Both my sisten and Mary neceived music degrees from Coker College 50
after thein graduation they went of4 to teach.

As T think back, 1 nealizeg that we had some pretty good music years
ago. My Aunt Hattie Hearon DuRant, a very talented person in many
ways, would bring her violin and she and Gladys Beasfey would play fine
duets. 1 nemember a Mr. Davis was our minister at that time and he
begged them to play more often because he enfoyed their music s0 much.

Edwardine Skinner would delight us with solos occasionally and 1 always
Looked gorwarnd to seeing hen beautiful wide-brimmed hats. Mrs. Bessdie
Hicks accompanied hen. Sometimes Edwardine's and GeDellL's Cousin Marganet
grom Columbia would s4ng for ws. 1 would go fo the house Jean now Lives
in to practice with hern. One song 1 especially hemember her singding

was "The Holy City."
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1 remember attending Revival Meetings morning and night and now

a church has difficulty scheduling one fon even three or four nights.
Those wene the days too, when our mothens had no modean conveniences
compared to now and the farmens farmed on a completely different scale.
One evangelist neally impressed me. He was E. A. Wilkes and 1 can
almost hear him saying now, "Lord,sanctify my Life this day for Thy
glony."

I must have started playing some in my early years of high school. 1§
the pianist didn't show up, whoever was there played and sometimes it
was 1. 1 used to wonder why every preacher's wife couldn't play the
piano. Mns. E. S. Dunbar was the only one that 1 nemember who could
play. She was an excellent adult Sunday school teacher, also. We
had at one time a minister named Mr. Busbee. His daughten, Lillian,
would play some and 1 always wondered how the piano survived.

I played fon church when Carl Parker ws the paston for Hebron and
Wesley Chapel. One Sunday he stopped me aften the §inst vense of
"Jesus Lovern of My Soul" and told me 1 wasn't playing it night. 1
was aware of the fact that 1 wasn't following the correct time of the
hymn but was playing it the way we had always sung it. 1t neally
embarassed me and 1 didn't care too much for the hymn or the preachen
agten that.

We moved to Georgetown in the middle f§ifties and 1 believe CLyde
Brooks was oun pastorn then. Dixdie Lee Privette took oven the music
and played until we moved back two and one half years Latern. As well
as 1 can hemember, Lillie Gatling had taken the job as choin director
and also played the piano some.

The $inst Sunday 1 went to Hebron after we moved back, someone
introduced me to Woodrow Smith, our ministern then. 1t might have
been 1€a Ruth who said, "Mr. Smith, Let me introduce you to oun
ofd piance player". That was exactly the way 1 felt.
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The ancient piano had been moved out of the choir and a new one(the
one in the building now) was on the §Loor in front of the choin.
There were quite a few young peopfe then and Liflie worked them
pretty hand. 1 nemember one night at choin practice she couldn'zt
get them to be quiet, and she hit the Lecturn so hard with eithen
her hand on book untif it nearly scared us all "out of our wits".
Hen main probfem was thrying to g4ind a song to sing on Sunday that
suited Peggy.

Oven the yeans we have had many programs, plays and cantatas
(Chaistmas and Easter). 1 always rememben the cantata in which
Jean sang "Infant Lowly, Infant Hoﬂf". 1t was beautigul. During
one cantata Joy swallowed a hard-backed bug and had to keep s4inging.
Those were great yeans!

We have been fortunate to have many mindisters with good voices. Eddie
Davidson sang wedl and 1 accompanied him many times. Woodrow Smith
didn't sing but his step-daughter,Alana, had a Lovely voice and sang
quite often. Hen favorite song was "1 Surrendern ALE".

Banbee Parson had a nice voice and brought some enthusiasm into the
choirn. During his ministry we had a beautiful sunrise service at
the Smith millpond. A platform was built near the edge of the waten
and oun piano was moved onto it. Banrbee planned the cantata-fike
senvice himseld and 1 believe some of the Savannah choin helped also.

One agternoon we were eating grapes under owr grapevine and Mr. Parnsons
and Harvey Woodham came. They said they had decided to pay me

ten dollarns pern month for my services and to help with gasoline, etc.
Then when Richard Garndner had me to go to Ashland Church every Sunday
aften our senvice, Larny McKenzie said they would pay me ten doflarns
monthly also.

My, money was rneally beginning to roll in!

Since then Hebron increased my salary but 1 have had to Live with a
guilty conscience because 1 felt that 1 should not have accepted «t.
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Music at Hebron neally starnted moving when Richard Gardner arrived
in 1965. He Loved music and he and his wife, Marie, Loved Zo
s4ng. Richarnd, Marie and 1 traveled about as much as the "Gatlin
Brothens". 1 went to many places to play for them to sing and

1 also played occasionally at Wilkes Chapel during Mr. Gardner's
ministry and also Mr. Floyd's. Mr. Gardner and 1 ordered the
purple Methodist Hymnals we are now using,so this Lets you know
how Long we have had them.

Erxndie Nivens and his wife, Rose Marie, sang welf together or
separnately. 1t was duning Ernde's ministrny that Andrea Chouch
and Dale Evans came to Hantsville. 1've nevern seen such shocked
exphessions on faces in our church as the Sunday Dale Evans
walked in. What a great day! 1 only wish Roy had come toco -

I sl watch him on T.V. We alse had some young singers §rom
California called "Children of the Day" and thein music was
"hairn naising".

There had never been drums on band instruments in Hebron(to my
knowledge) until the "Cowriens" came and if there were any cracks
in the walls agtern that Sunday they probably werne the result of
the volume of the music.

Richard King came along with the voice of a Metropolitan opera singex.
1 played forn the Hebron-Twitty Christmas cantata while he was here.
He, Sanah Hough and 1 shopped around for an organ until we found

the one most suitable for this size chunch. Sarah presented it

to Hebron and T have enjoyed playing it very much.

Matt Ruckern Liked music but didn't Like to sofo. He told me he
sang at Twitty one Sunday but he would never do it again. 1t was
during his ministrny that his griend, Walter Carnter, a concert
pianist, visited our church. His fingens wene Like magic on the
keyboard and was a delightful young man. MLLicent was in the
hospital over thirnty days with ruptured appendix and Matt was

there most every day praying fon her and thying to keep hen

spinits up. He also performed the wedding ceremony for Suzanne
and Johnny at Rebecca and Nelson's home. Matt was £ike a member of

oun family.
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Gary Hyndman's musical taste sont of han along with mine. He sang
exceptionally well. He enjoyed singing Lin the choin but was a
pergectionist and wanted everything just night.

Let me mention a few people who sang over the years. Jane Hope
Privette was always willing to sing whenever 1 asked hen and also
what 1 selected for hern. Linda Beasley was a faithful choin
member and the Lone singen in the choin for many Sundays. Hen son,
Darin, a very talented young man, playathe piano for ws from time
to time. He also had a good voice but he and Tommy Woodham were
two people 1 never could persuade to sing along. Bebe witﬂing£y
played forn me when I was unable to walk agter breaking my foot

in the Byerly Hospital parking Lot.

A s4inging ghoup called "Morning Star" was formed, 1 believe durning
Mary Eddins' ministry. Linda Beasfey, Joy Smith, Peggy Fields
and Lynn Griggs made up this group. 1 accompanied them and we
always dressed alike. Forn oun §inst appearance we wore Long
black dresses and a ned §lower in our hairn. Linda Latern dropped
out 50 that Legt the thio we now have.

I don't want to forget to mention that 1 have had the honor of playing
forn many weddings, incfuding Rebecca and Nelson's. Mary Eddins
officiated. 1 have also played for many funerals of family and
frniends.

Forn the past few years Joy and Jean have been doing most of the
s4nging and Joy and 1 began playing the organ and piano together.
We've made countless mistakes because we've been unable to get
together to practice but we've enjoyed <t. 1t has really been an
experience but fun.

Tots Skinnern has helped quite a bit in the choir and has also played
the ongan fon Sunday services. He was gracious enough to present
Hebron the nice Baldwin pianc and it has been a pleasure to play.

During our nevivals fon the past several yearns we have had guests
gnom othern chunches to s4ing. Also, Timmy Mclendon has been many

times with the Savannah cho&ﬂ and ALHCQ with h&é own 44nging group.

@,7@@» ﬂwf%:»@f,&?o? ——D(-c/ﬂ—cAM’
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Janice Riley Gregory has sung and played fon wus 4in her own special
way several times. ALL of these have been greatly enjoyed.

Then along came Jerry. 1 don't have fo tell you he can s4ing because
you have heard him. 1In fact, he sings so0 well that he needs no
accompaniment. 1 have enjoyed the children's songs he has

sung - many completely new to me. He {8 willing to work with the
choin and that (s extremely important.

1'm sure there have been otherns whe have contributed to the music
o4 Hebron Chunch. Just as T wrote that sentence two people came
into my mind that 1 had failed to mention. Juanita Gatling had

a Lovely contralto vodice and Uneeda Stoner was almost a coloratura
soprano. They both sang grom time to Lime.

1 neally did not intend to write this much but fust got cawiied
away and couldn'zt stop. 1 sincerely hope it hasn'zt been too
boring.

I'm turning over my work to Joy. 1've afways heard that 4if you
want something done, give it to a busy person. Joy is surely

a busy Lady. Maybe in about twenty-five years you will be having
a similan service for hex.

I hope and pray there will be many great yearns for Hebron in the future.

28 Jowme

Martyn W. Skinner 1 18&
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CHAPTER

2

Camp MEeeTINGS: “FisHING WITH A LARGE NeT”

The turning point for Methodism in South Carolina and the Gully Meeting
House occurred in the first decade of the 1800’s. It was during this first decade
that an unusual form of worship, the camp meeting, appeared on the Great
Pee Dee Circuit. During the last years of the 1700s the growth of Methodism
stalled on the Great Pee Dee Circuit. The circuit riding preachers were
meeting their assignments, but the population seemed to have other con-
cerns. By theend 0of 1799 only 189 white members and 52 black members were
members of the Great Pee Dee Circuit.! The camp meeting enabled the Gully
to take a position of leadership in the spread of Methodism along Lynches
Creek. The results of this innovative type of worship service led to increased
membership, a new zeal for Methodism, and a generation of Methodist
leaders and ministers from the southwestern section of Darlington District.

There are conflicting opinions about the origin of the camp meeting as a
religious force in the United States. Some scholars claim the camp meeting
wasfirstintroduced before the Revolutionary War in Guilford County, North
Carolina by members of the Baptist denomination. This camp meeting was
somewhat different from the later occurrences in that only males could camp
overnight, and no provisions were made for feeding the crowds.? Other
scholars credit Daniel Asbury, a Methodist minister, as the originator of the
camp meeting. During the time when his Lincoln County, North Carolina
church, Rehoboth, was under construction in 1794, the worship services were
held in the forest. Three hundred members were converted during the day
and night services. The following year Asbury continued these outdoor
meetings in nearby Iredell County with cooperation from James Hall, a
Presbyterian minister. These meetings were called “Union Camp-Meet-
ings." Jesse Lee, in his 1810 book concerning the early history of Methodism,
states that camp meetings began around the year 1801 in either the upper
parts of South Carolina, Tennessee, or Kentucky; however, he was not able
to determine which state.*

The most often cited origin of the camp meeting concerns the brothers
John and William McGee. Both brothers were ministers, but of different
denominations. John McGee was a Methodist minister, while WilliamMcGee

10



Camp Meetings: “Fishing With A Large Net” 11

was a Presbyterian minister. In their early ministry they were residents of
Guilford County, North Carolina. By the late 1700’s they moved to Logan
County, Kentucky. Ineither 1799 or 1800 they held a revival which soon grew
too large to be held in the local church. The congregation was so large that
feeding and providing shelter for the many worshipers soon became a
problem. It was decided that the worship service should be moved out of
doors and provisions gathered from the worshipers. Brush was cleared to
provide a meeting area for the crowd. Services began on Saturday evening
and continued until Tuesday morning. The crowd spent the nights in crude
shelters made with branches in the woods or slept in their wagons. Each day
an excitement raced through the crowd as more and more accepted the call
to accept Christ as Lord.®

James Jenkins, early minister on the Great Pee Dee Circuit and author,
seems to accept the McGee brothers as the originators of the camp meeting.
Jenkins cites a letter written by John McGee on October 27, 1800, in which
he describes this first camp meeting. It occurred in June of 1800 at the Red
River Meeting House in Kentucky. Between four and five hundred people
had gathered to hear the five ministers present. During the camp meeting . . .
“the cry of distressed sinners for mercy was great, while the Lord’s people
were filled with unspeakable joy.” Several found peace while many went
away pleading for mercy.®

James Jenkins states that the first camp meeting held in South Carolina
occurred in June, 1802, at Hanging Rock with fifteen Methodist, Baptist, and
Presbyterian ministers and three thousand people present. The camp meet-
ing began on Friday evening and continued until Monday morning with
several finding peace in the Lord

It was the same year, 1802, that the first camp meeting took place at the
Gully, in Darlington District. Jenkins recorded the events surrounding this
meeting. He had attended a camp meeting at Rembert’s Meeting House in
Sumter County and had accompanied Rev. Thomas Shaw to the Gully for a
night meeting. Jenkins began to preach from under a tree, but soon his heart
seemed “hard and barren as a rock.” Jenkins, exhausted, retired to the
meeting house tolie down. Rev. Shaw, the preacher assigned to the Great Pee
Dee Circuitin 1802, relieved Jenkins and continued to preach throughout the
night. Shaw’s efforts were not without success, for several professed religion
at the Gully that night. One of these, Brother Woodham, later became a
prominent local preacher of the Lynches Creek area. Brother Woodham is
believed to have been Ariss Woodham, son of Edward Woodham. Woodham
lived near McCullum’s Ferry on Lynches Creek some six or seven miles from

the Gully Meeting House. Brother Woodham was described by Jenkins as
“one of the most industrious and untiring local preachers I ever saw .. . he
frequently worked hard all day, and then held one or two night meetings
through the week.™
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This first camp meeting at the Gully was instrumental in the spread of
Methodism in several ways. It began a pattern of camp meetings that
continued until the late 1800’s in the southwestern section of Darlington
District. The Gully was cited many times as one of the foremost camp meeting
sites in the state of South Carolina. This camp meeting renewed the spread of
Methodism in Darlington District and surrounding areas. Camp meetings at
the Gully drew people from the entire area around Lynches Creek and
Darlington District. These people took their taste of Methodism back to their
own areas, and many societies were formed as aresult. By 1817, the successor
to the Great Pee Dee Circuit in the Darlington District area, the Lynches
Creek Circuit, had twenty-four Methodist societies on it.’ In the decade after
the first camp meeting held at the Gully, membership on the Great Pee Dee
Circuit increased greatly, at least among the white population. In 1802, 265
whites and 444 blacks were members of the circuit. By 1812, membership had
increased to 750 whites and 374 blacks.'° Many local and itinerant preachers
committed themselves to Methodism or were reinforced as a result of the
religious experiences which occurred at the Gully camp meetings. Ariss
Woodham, Stephen Thompson, Ephraim Hendrix, Lewis Pipkin, Barnabus
Pipkin, Richard Pipkin, Zaccheus Dowling, Dempsey Dowling, and James
Windham were some of the men from the Gully and surrounding areas in the
firsttwodecades of the nineteenth century who helped the cause of Methodism
by becoming local preachers and itinerant preachers. Some, notably Stephen
Thompson, the Pipkins, and the Dowlings, sought to spread Methodism as
they moved from the boundaries of South Carolina to other states.

What were the characteristics of a camp meeting that set it apart from the
regular religious services of the era? Rev. Jesse Lee, in his book concerning
the early history of Methodism, published in 1810, gives a contemporary view
of camp meetings. His reports echo some of the events which occurred in
Kentucky with the McGee brothers’ first camp meeting. Because of the great
crowds attracted to religious services, it was necessary o hold the services
out-doors. The meetings lasted well into the night, sometimes all through the
night. In order to be present for the next day’s meeting, some of the people
spent the night at the site of the camp meeting sleeping on the ground in the
woods. Many of these camp meetings had a duration of three to four days.
Soon the worshipers began to prepare tents made of cloth or branches in
order toshelter themselves during the nights spent at the camp meeting. Food
and provisions were also brought by the crowds in attendance so that they
might stay the entire duration of the camp meeting without leaving."

It was not long before a certain amount of organization was needed to
enable the camp meeting to serve the needs of the great crowds present. Lee
states that most camp meeting sites soon cleared an oblong square of
underbrush to accommodate the tents of the participants. Usually one or two
stages were constructed for the speakers. The men and women were seated
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according to the custom of the day, segregated from each other. Lee describes
the normal camp meeting routine as beginning at dawn. Soon after the first
light of day, a person walked through the area where the tents were pitched
arousing the sleeping people. Ten minutes later the people began morning
prayers andsinging. At the rising of the sun a sermon was preached, followed
by breakfast. Another sermon commenced around 10:00 A.M., with the mid-
day meal at 1 P.M. Three P.M. brought preaching until suppertime, usually
at the setting of the sun. The last sermon was given by candlelight until late
in the evening. During the night the site was illuminated by candles affixed
tothestages, trees, and other points. Guards were appointed to walk through-
out the area during the night to prevent rowdy individuals from creating any
kind of commotion.

Itwas not unusual for acamp meeting to begin on Friday and continue until
mid-day on Monday. Although camp meetings were held throughout the
warm months of the year, harvest time seemed to be a favorite time for camp
meetings. This enabled the residents to take a few days away from the
demands of the farm."?

Attendance at the early camp meetings was not limited to members of the
Methodist church. Baptists, Presbyterians, and members of other denomina-
tions were present at many camp meetings. James Jenkins points out that at
a camp meeting at the Gully in 1803, many Presbyterians were present.
Attendance was not restricted to whites. Slaves were often in attendance, but
segregated, as was expected.”

At most camp meetings several unofficial groups of participants could be
identified. First, there were the leaders of the camp meeting, the preachers
and the exhorters. There were usually two types of preachers present, the
itinerant minister who traveled the circuit regularly and the local preacher
who usually ministered to the local society in between the visits of the
itinerant minister. Anexhorter wasalay person whose duty was to preachand
lead the worshipers in prayer under the direction of the local or itinerant
preacher. Often the position of exhorter was a step in preparation for
becoming a local or itinerant preacher. The worshipers usually consisted of
several different types of individuals: sinners, mourners, and converts. The
sinners were those who were not members of the church and who led a
worldly life. Much effort was made to bring these sinners to conversion.
Mourners were sinners with conviction who “mourned” for their inevitable
fate. They were not yet converts, but in a transitional state betweensinner and
convert. The converts were those who had been converted by the Lord. Many
times, even though converted, individuals might be considered backsliders.
Once faithful to the church, they now needed a revival of their faith and
devotion. A final group of individuals was sometimes present at the Gully, as
well as other camp meetings. These individuals were referred to as mockers
- andscoffers. To the faithful, they were agents of the devil. Their purpose was
= todisrupt the camp meeting and to heckle the believers.

-—
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Woodham's. This is the same Woodham mentioned by James Jenkins in his
description of the early camp meetings at the Gully. As stated earlier, it is
thought that this is Ariss Woodham, an early local Methodist preacher along
Lynches Creek in Darlington District. Asbury soon continued his journey
and spent the night with Jeremiah Heath, who lived on Jeffries Creek in the
central section of Darlington District.?

The importance of Methodism in Darlington District can be seen in the
next visit of Bishop Asbury to Ariss Woodham’s on January 8, 1809. Asbury
ordained Stephen Thompson a deacon in the Methodist Church at this time.
Stephen Thompson was described as a close friend of Ariss Woodham before
their conversion by James Jenkins.? In fact, Stephen Thompson and Ariss
Woodham married sisters, Margaret and Rachel Beasley, daughters of John
and Margaret Beasley. Thompson was the stepson of Stephen Pipkin, who
sent four sons into the Methodist ministry.* Stephen Thompson owned land
on Sparrow Swamp not far from the Gully Meeting House. Soon after
Woodham’s profession of faith at the first Gully camp meeting in 1802,
Thompson also professed his belief. Thompson did so while “Thundering
Jimmy” Jenkins preached from the text, “‘Stand fast therefore in the liberty
wherewith Christ has made youfree.”” Jenkins describes Ariss Woodham and
Stephen Thompson as David and Jonathan.?

Stephen Thompson was the first Methodist minister from Darlington
District who entered the itinerancy. Thompson’s stepfather, Stephen Pipkin;
his friend, brother-in-law, and local preacher, Ariss Woodham; and the Rev.
James Jenkins, no doubt, had an influence upon Thompson becoming a
Methodist minister. In 1806 Stephen Thompson was admitted on trial as a
minister. He continued on trial in 1807. After Bishop Asbury ordained him,
Thompson was appointed to the Bladen, North Carolina Circuit. He was
received on the circuit warmly and commenced his work. The Methodists on
the circuit remembered Thompson as a “son of thunder and a son of conso-
lation, happily blended together.” Within six months of his appointment as a
probationary minister, Thompson was attacked by inflammatory rheuma-
tism which soon permeated his entire body. In excruciating pain and unable
to perform his duties on the Bladen Circuit, Thompson set out to be with his
wife and children in Darlington District. All attempts by local doctors were
unsuccessful in relieving Thompson of his terrible suffering. He was dying. In
preparation for his eventual death, Thompson executed adeed on August 26,
1809, in lieu of a last will and testament. For the loveand affection he had for
his wife, Margaret Thompson, Stephen Thompson deeded her all his land,
livestock, tools, and household furniture. Instead of the two witnesses re-
quired on deeds of that day and time, three witnesses signed this deed of gift,
as was required of all last wills and testaments. Charles Beasle (Beasley),
Spencer Harrell, and Ariss Woodham were the witnesses. In this last illness,
Stephen Thompson surrounded himself with faithful family and friends.
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Charles Beasley is believed to be the brother of Thompson’s wife, Margaret.
Spencer Harrell was a devout Methodist, 2 member of the Gully Meeting
House. Ariss Woodham, Thompson's brother-in-law and close friend, had
been influential in Thompson’s decision to become a minister. Soon Stephen
Thompson died “in the full assurance of faith.”®
Another early itinerant minister from Darlington District was Zacheus
Dowling. Dowling was born in Darlington County on July 29, 1792. He was
the son of John and Nancy Dowling. Zacheus Dowling was exposed early in
life to the working of the Methodist Church. Early in the history of the Great
Pee Dee Circuit a Methodist society was formed at Dowling’s Meeting
House. John Dowling was a prominent class leader in that society and was
known for his strict adherence to the rules and guidelines of the Methodist
Church. John Dowling did not tolerate any style of dress that exhibited a
worldly pride. He was also known for his faithful observance of the command
to keep the Sabbath holy. Zacheus Dowling was greatly influenced by the
piety of his father. Atthe age of eighteen Zacheus Dowling publicly acknowl-
edged the saving grace of Jesus Christ. Two years later, in 1810, he formally
joined the Methodist Church under the influence of Rev. Thomas D. Glenn’s
ministry. Within four years Dowling was first licensed to exhort and then to
preach on the Lynches Creek Circuit. Dowling’s religious teachings on the
Lynches Creek Circuit were interrupted by hisservice in the militiaduring the
War of 1812. He served for six months in Captain William R. David’s
Company of South Carolina Militia during late 1814 and early 1815. As the
war ended, Dowling returned to spreading the doctrine of Methodism. In
January, 1816, Zacheus Dowling was admitted on trial into the South Caro-
lina Conference as an itinerant minister. In 1818, Dowling was ordained a
deacon, and in 1820, he was ordained as an elder in the Methodist Church.’
Rev. Dowling made a significant contribution to Methodism in five states,
South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia, Florida, and Alabama during his
seventy-five years as a member of the Methodist Church. The Bible was his
guide in all matters of religion. What he could not find in that holy book, he
neither believed as doctrine or observed in practice. Dowling also observed
private prayer at least thrice a day. Whenever possible, he constructed a
private altar near his home to be used in secret meditations. Dowling
expected the members of the churches he served to follow the teachings of the
Bible and did not tolerate sin of any sort from believers. This made him
unpopular with some, but he continued to preach to all that would hear.?
Rev. Dowling was married three times during his lifetime, but had no
- children. His first wife, Eliza, left him “. .. without any just cause for doing
80, ..." and by 1831 had married and had children by a Dr. McCall of North
3 Carolma This occurred without Eliza Dowling first obtaining a divorce from
& Rev. Dowling. Over twenty years later, Zacheus Dowling, living in Pike
County, Alabama, was able to divorce his wife. The divorce was granted in
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which meeting houses he read the citations. Jacob Kelley lived where present
day Kelleytown is located and Watford is believed to have been a resident of
the area near the Gully Meeting House. Another citation that may have also
been read at the Gully Meeting House was that of Gillis Whiddon in 1813.
Gillis Whidden owned land adjacent to the Gully Meeting House on the road
from MeCullum’s Ferry to Darlington Court House. Ariss Woodham read
the citation on Gillis Whiddon's estate on February 21, 1813, Nathan Gran-
tham, a local preacher active in the early 1800's in the area around the Gully
Meeting House, published a citation on the estate of “John Harrell late of
Boggy Gully” on the ... 6" day of August 1803.” Various other examples of
circuit and local ministers reading citations have been found in the probate
records of Darlington County.!?

The annual salary for a traveling preacher was barely adequate to meet his
needsinthefirstdecade of the nineteenth century. Eighty dollars per year was
allotted to each itinerant minister. An allowance was also given for the
traveling expenses of the minister. If the minister was married, a very difficult
accomplishment given the nature of the traveling ministry, an additional
allowance of eighty dollars per year was given for the wife. The allowance for
the children of ministers varied. For each child to age seven, fourteen dollars
a year was allowed, Children between the ages of seven and fourteen were
allowed twenty-four dollars annually.” It must be remembered that the
minister depended upon the generosity of the various societies on the circuit
he served for his salary. When the amount collected from the societies came
to less than the suggested allowance, then the minister was expected to live
on whatever amount was collected. This illustrates why very few ministers
who entered the itinerancy were able to support a family on the salary of a
minister. Many were forced to locate after only a few years as a traveling
minister.

‘The task of carrying on the activities of the Gully Meeting House whenever
the circuit riding minister was not present fell 1o the local preachers and the
local exhorters. Those men who felt the call of God to preach needed a license
from the quarterly conference to preach as local preachers. Local preachers
were to:

reprove offenders, reclaim wanderers, instruct ignorant persons, settle
dispuies between brethren, and reconcile conlending parties; and thereby pre-

vent apostasies, crimes, and expulsions; which, in failure of their care and labor
might scandalize the Church, and ruin souls,

Under the direction of the itinerant preacher in charge, a local preacher
could form new congregations and make a list of all candidates suitable for
membership. Local preachers could also serve as class leaders and stewards
of the church. For this labor, local preachers received no compensation. Only
in the event that a lJocal preacher filled the role of a supply minister did he
receive any payment.'s
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Several local preachers who served the Gully Meeting House and other

. Methodist societies in southwestern Darlington District can be identified.

« These local preachers served during the years 1800 through 1813, the last

yearsthe Gully Meeting House was a part of the Great Pee Dee Circuit. These

were men who helped make Methodism a success in Darlington District and
whose descendants carried on their example.

One of the earliest local preachers who can be named from the existing
records is Lewis Pipkin. Lewis was the son of Stephen and Amelia Pipkin. He
was bornin Wayne County, North Carolina about 1780. Lewis Pipkin moved
with his family to Darlington District soon after 1800. His father eventually
owned nearly 1300 acres of land between Sparrow Swamp and Boggy Gully.
In 1803 Lewis Pipkin married Pheraby Beasley, the daughter of John and
Margaret Beasley. There were many influences upon Pipkin’s religious life in

Darlington District in the early 1800’s. Camp meetings and class meetings’

certainly played a major role. One influence usually not considered was the
fact that there were many intermarriages between the prominent Methodist
families of the Boggy Gully and Lynches Creek area. Ariss Woodham, early
Methodist pioneer of Darlington District, married Rachel Beasley, the sister
of Pheraby Beasley, Lewis Pipkin’s wife. Three Pipkin siblings married three
Beasley siblings: Lewis, Suzanne (Ann), and Martin Pipkin, children of
Stephen and Amelia Pipkin, married respectively Pheraby, John, and Nancy
Beasley, children of John and Margaret Beasley. Stephen Thompson, an
early itinerant preacher and stepbrother of Lewis Pipkin, married Margaret
Beasley, sister to the above mentioned Beasley children. Spencer Harrell, an
exhorter in the Gully Meeting House, married Sophia Pipkin, the sister of
Lewis Pipkin. These intermarriages within the Pipkin, Woodham, Thompson,
Beasley, and Harrell families gave the necessary support needed to promote
and foster Methodism during the last years the Gully Meeting House was on
the Great Pee Dee Circuit.® Pipkin was first licensed to preach in 1804.
During the years 1804 through 1810 Lewis Pipkin attended the needs of the
growing Methodist membership at the Gully Meeting House and throughout
the surrounding area. One of the most memorable traits of this sincere man
was his devotion to prayer. Lewis Pipkin set regular stated hours for prayer
each day. These daily devotional hours were observed regardless of other
pressing business. Lewis Pipkin personified the Biblical holy man. He has
been compared with Paul, Jeremiah, Cornelius, and Moses. In fact, later in
life, because of his meek and quietspirit, he was referred to as “Uncle Moses”.
Often in public worship Pipkin was overcome with emotion and shouted with
joy or begin singing sacred hymns expressing his love for Jesus.!?

On Christmas Day, 1810, Lewis Pipkin was ordained a deacon in the
Melhodist Church by Bishop Francis Asbury in Columbia, South Carolina.
Pipkin moved from Darlington District soon after 1810 but continued his
efforts to spread the gospel. He served as a local preacher for sixty-one years

#1
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in South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and Arkansas. He set an example that
was followed by many in his family. Three of Lewis Pipkin’s brothers followed
him into the ministry: Barnabas, Stephen, and Richard. All three were
younger than Lewis, and only Barnabasisbelieved to have preached in South
Carolina. Three of Lewis Pipkin’s sons also followed their father’s example
of becoming a Methodist minister: Mellord, John Fletcher,and Daniel Griffin
Pipkin. Lewis Pipkin died in 1865 in Ouachita County, Arkansas and is buried
beside his wife, Pheraby, who predeceased him.'®

Several of the contributions of Ariss Woodham to Methodism in Darling-
ton District have been mentioned earlier. Ariss Woodham was born July 31,
1771,in North Carolina, the son of Edward and Mary Woodham. By the early
1790’s, the Woodham family had settled in Darlington County along Lynches
Creek near McCullum’s Ferry. On February 14, 1791, Ariss Woodham
married Rachel Beasley, the daughter of John and Margaret Beasley. Along
Lynches Creek, Ariss and Rachel Woodham raised a family of eleven
children. Woodham became a prosperous planter owning over 700 acres of
land, a grist mill, a saw mill, a cotton gin, and at least three slaves.®

Ariss Woodham awakened to the call of Methodism at the first camp
meeting held at the Gully in 1802. The preaching of James Jenkins induced
Ariss Woodham to accept Jesus Christ as his savior. Within a few years Ariss
Woodham was serving as a local preacher in Darlington District. Woodham,
Stephen Thompson, and Lewis Pipkin, brothers-in-law, share the credit for
continuing the successful spread of Methodism in southwestern Darlington
District. Perhaps partly in recognition of the role Ariss Woodham played in
the success of Methodism along Lynches Creek, Bishop Francis Asbury
visited the Woodham residence during his travels through South Carolina in
1807 and 1809.* Woodham's residence, located near the road leading from
McCullum’s Ferry to Darlington Court House, was a convenient stopover for
Bishop Asbury.

JamesJenkins described Ariss Woodham as a local preacher who could be
depended on to meet his appointments any season of the year. Woodham was
active in holding class meetings several times a week and conducting divine
worship services. Ariss Woodham ministered to the needs of the people by
performing marriages. One such marriage conducted by Woodham occurred
September 28, 1815, between Noah Galloway and Angeline Truett. The task
of publishing legal citations also fell to Ariss Woodham as a local preacher.
On Sunday, November 5, 1809, Ariss Woodham, “preacher of the Gospel”,
read the citation on the estate of William Mixon “immediately after divine
Service.”® Through these activities and many others, Ariss Woodham estab-
lished himself as one of the leaders of Methodism in Darlington District
during the first two decades of the nineteenth century.

Asearly as 1800 the name of Nathan Grantham appears as a local preacher
in Darlington District. Grantham was a native of North Carolina. Soon after
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the Revolutionary War began, he enlisted in the North Carolina Militia to
- fight the British and their supporters, the Tories. Shortly after the war, he
embraced the banner of Christianity under the North Carolina Methodist
preacher Henry Willis. He was licensed as a local preacher before moving to
the southwestern area of Darlington County in the late 1790's. Nathan
Granthamestablished himself as aleader in the Methodist Church in Darling-
ton Districtduring the first two decades of the nineteenth century. In addition
toserving as alocal preacher, Grantham alsoserved as a trustee of Methodist
property by 1817. Grantham’s “talents were not of high order, butinpatience,
meekness, zeal, and piety [were] of the deepest grade.” Throughout most of
his adult life Nathan Grantham was a schoolmaster. In 1818 Grantham
advertised the opening of a scheol in Camden teaching orthography, reading,
writing, and arithmetic. For this service he charged six dollars per_quarter.®
As many residents of Darlington District did in the 1820’s, Nathan
Grantham moved his family west. He settled in Stewart County, Georgia. In
1834, at age 75, he applied for a pension for his service in the Revolutionary
War. Grantham did not remain in Stewart County, but moved to Henry
County, Alabama. Here he continued as a local Methodist preacher among
many former Darlington District residents. On May 6, 1839, “Father” Grant-
ham died in the garden of his residence in Henry County, Alabama. On the
day before his death he preached a funeral sermon some twenty miles from
his home. He left seventy-six children and grandchildren to mourn his death.
Asonsaid of Nathan Grantham soon after his father’sdeath, “lamadvancing
toward 60 . . . my father was a preacher of righteousness when I can first
remember, and never did I see his temper ruffled, or hear him utter one word
in anger.”®
‘The local preacher most closely associated with the Gully Meeting House
was Ephraim Hendrix. Local tradition holds that the Gully Meeting House
was first erected on land belonging to Ephraim Hendrix. The author hasbeen
unsuccessful in proving this claim but unable to ignore this tradition handed
down by generations of Gully members. The scarce public and religious
records do not address this point, Many Darlington County real estate
records were destroyed in a fire in 1806, and local Methodist records do not
exist before 1817. Whether or not Ephraim Hendrix gave the land for the
Gully Meeting House will not be examined indetail; rather, the contributions
of Hendrix to the early success of the Gully Meeting House will be empha-
sized,
The names of the parents and birthplace of Ephraim Hendrix have not
survived the steady parade of years. There is even uncertainty concerning the
year of his birth. The census records suggest that Hendrix was born between

the years 1770 and 1780 in either North or South Carolina. It is not known
Whe‘ther Ephraim Hendrix grew upinareligious environment, was converted
during his youth, or perhaps influenced at an early Methodist camp meeting.
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well continued during his retirement to preach as much as his weakened body
allowed. Gamewell once observed that he had “. . .alocated body . . . yet an
itinerant soul. . . .” Gamewell died on a trip to Horry District on October 7,
1828, and is buried in Conway.’

By 1817, there were over twenty Methodist societies on the Lynches Creek
Circuit, A listing, taken from the Quarterly Conference Minutes of 1817,
includes:

... Zion, Dowlings, Bethlehem, Liberty Chapel, Bethel, Salem, Sardis,
Shiloh, Pine Grove, Wrights, Windhams, Garners, New Chapel, Rehoboth,
New Hope, Antioch, Gully, Providence, Mt. Olivet, Duetts, Haws, Campbelis,
Eadys, [and] Wards. .. &

Most of these societies were very small, containing only a few dozen
members at the most. Many were not meeting houses at all, but only a
member’s home. The names of several of the above mentioned societies
indicate which member’s homes served as a meeting place and a place of
worship. Several of these small societies later joined to form larger, stronger
churches.

In the first listing of officials in the Quarterly Conference Minutes of the
Lynches Creek Circuit, the Gully Meeting House was well represented.
Ephraim Hendrix waslisted asalocal preacher and Spencer Harrell was listed
as an exhorter. Other local preachers on the circuit in 1817 included William
Hudson,Drewry Flowers, Dempsey Dowling, Robert Stewart, Edwin James,
Nathan Grantham, Robert Campbell, John W, Thompson, Ariss Woodham,
and James Windham. Class leaders who lived in the general vicinity of the
Gully Meeting House were Reuben Beasley, John Northeutt, and Jeremiah
Belk.*

The trustees of the Lynches Creek Circuit in 1817 were listed in a deed
from James and William Houze to these same trustees on March &, of that
year. Again the Gully Meeting House is well represented. The trustees for
1817 included Nathan Grantham, Robert Campbell, Spencer Harrell, Ephraim
Hendrix, and William King.!®

Al each quarterly conference the officials of the circuit met to fiie various
reports, review the membership, license local preachers and exhorters, hear
complaints against members, and collect the quarterage. The amount paid to
the two itinerant preachers and the presiding elder for 1817 amounted to
$140.58 3/4." The biggest percentage usially went to the circuit preachers and
only a small portion was paid to the presiding elder. The amount of the
quarterage varied from year to year depending upon the generosity of the
Methodists on the circuit. An amount was usually suggested by the General
Conference, but rarely did the salaries paid to the itinerant preachers and the
presiding elder equal this.

During the years 1818 through 1822 only one itinerant minister was
assigned to the Lynches Creek Circuit each year in contrast to the two min-
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guted to the material well being of the itinerant ministers on the circuit. The
fquarterage collected from the Methodist societies was given almost entirely
itothe one minister, with only asmall amount reserved for the presiding elder.
f. The year 1818 also saw another change in the Lynches Creek Circuit,

'Joseph Travis became its presiding elder. Travis was born September 13,

E?21786, in Harford County, Maryland. His parents moved to South Carolina
f.while he was still young. Travis was admitted by the South Carolina Confer-
%‘ence in 1807 and quickly rose to leadership positions.!? Rev. Joseph Travis
Fwas active on the Lynches Creek Circuit. In 1819, for example, Travis was
j;f.f’ijresent at each quarterly conference held by the circuit. At one quarterly
§_Eonference during 1819, Travis presided over the expulsion of John W.
afrhompson, a local preacher, for . . . “charges prefered though not stated. ..
.73 Travis later moved to Georgia, Alabama, and Mississippi. Near the end
£of his life, Travis wrote an autobiography in which he gave accounts of many
T early preachers that served the Great Pee Dee Circuit and the Lynches Creek
o Circuit.'*
%" During the spring of 1818, aloca! minister from the Lynches Creek Circuit
* transferred his services to the Santee Circuit, Nathan Grantham. The Santee
_Cireuit’s tlerritory began on the opposite bank of Lynches Creek and ex-
“tended south with this waterway as its northern boundary. On April 11, the
Quarterly Conference of the Santee Circuit met at Rembert’s Meeting
House. Among those present was Rev. James Jenkins, Rev. John Gamewell,
“and Rev. Thomas Humphries. At this meeting the conference considered the
- petition of Nathan Grantham to be accepted into the circuit as a local
minister.

Brother Nathan Grantham presented a certificate of his Ministerial stand-
ing in Lynches Creek circuit & requested to be received in fellowship among us
as a Local Preacher which was unanimously granted.!*

It was not unusual for local ministers and officials to serve both the Santee
Circuit and the Lynches Creek Circuit. In'addition to Nathan Grantham,
those who served on both sides of Lynches Creek were William Hudson,
James Hudson, Edward Skinner, and William Brockinton. The Santee Cir-
cuit recommended William Hudson, in 1826 and 1829, and James Hudson, int
1829, to the Annual Conference for elder’s orders. Both of these men were
listed as local preachers by the Santee Circuit. The records of the Santee
Circuit indicate that William Hudson transferred back to the Lynches Creek

- Circuit in 1830. On September 15, 1819, the Quarterly Conference of the
- Santee Circuit looked into the character of two individuals usually associated
- with the Lynches Creek Circuit, Edward Skinner and Nathan Grantham.

‘Skinner was recommended as a candidate for the office of deacon and

- Grantham was recommended as a candidate for the office of elder. William

- Brockinton was licensed as a local preacher as late as 1827.1¢
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District.> John Josey served as a constable from Sumter District before
moving to Darlington District. Josey was active in Darlington District as a
teacher at the Cross Roads School House in 1843, and served as Deputy
Sheriff in 1858.* He later served the Methodist Church for years to come as
an exhorter, deacon, and an elder. Galloway, a class leader, was born
November 4, 1820, the son of George and Susannah Galloway.® He followed
his father as a servant of the Lord at Wesley Chapel. Pipkin married Phariba
Beasley® and to this union were born ten children. Pipkin Galloway served
Wesley Chapel as a leader even after his enlistment as a soldier in the Civil
War.

One of the two ministers assigned to the circuitin 1841, Rev. Lark O’Neal,
was removed by the presiding elder in the spring of the year.” No indication
of the problem is given in the circuit minutes. O’Neal had served the circuit
the previous year.

The regular camp meetings at the Gully were noted in 1841 and 1842.
“Thundering Jimmy” Jenkins gave his last report of a Gully camp meeting
after nearly forty years of periodic attendance. He reported thatin September
of 1841, he spent a Sabbath at the Gully camp meeling.

Here I saw some of my old friends and children in the Lord. On Sunday I
preached from 1 Tim. iv., “The Spirit speaketh expressly, that in the last days
some shall depart from the faith,” &c. I think the subject was suited 1o the
occasion.?

Rev. Lewis Scarborough, the sole circuit minister on the Darlington
Circuit in 1842, wrote a glowing account of the camp meetings held on the
Darlington Circuit in the Southern Christian Advocate. An eight day camp
meeting at Philadelphia Church in July saw the conversion of seventeen
people. “Our Campmeeting held at the Gully was remarkably glorious in its
concluding services.” Atatwo day meeting at Mt. Carmel sixty-five individu-
als were admitted on trial. Scarborough acknowledged the role of the local
preachers in these successes. “The local preachers have had a heart to work
in the Lord’s vineyard, and their labours have been exceedingly blessed.™

In the routine business of the circuit in 1842, J.F.A. Elliott was recom-
mended by the society at Newman Swamp for a license to preach. After
examination by Presiding Elder Charles Betts, Elliott was licensed to preach
on March 5, 1842. Elliott, in later years, became associated with Wesley
Chapel and served its members in the same manner. Atthe Same conference
held in March, the question of how to divide the parsonage between the
church at Darlington Court House and the Darlington Circuit was discussed.
The church at Darlington, once a member of the circuit, was now a station,
withits own minister. It remained a station until 1844, when it returned to the
Darlington Circuit for fifteen additional years. A proposal by the congrega-
tion at Darlington Court House was discussed and a counter proposal by the
churches on the circuit was considered. No decision was reached concerning
the parsonage at this time.'

e T —
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On September 10, the Third Quarterly Conference was held at Wesley
Chapel. An unusual number of disciplinary matters were taken up by the
thirty officials present. Perhapsthe topic of Rev. James Jenkins’ sermon at the
Gully camp meeting the previous year had a ring of truth toiit, ... “thatin the
last days some shall depart from the faith.” Rev. Lewis Scarbrough requested
that Hester Dowling of the Philadelphia Church be expelled, being charged
with “Bastardy.” The conference unanimously gave its consent. Lemuel
Skinner, a member of Hebron, appealed his conviction and expulsion by a
church committee of telling falsehoods concerning Sister Martha Mixon.
Skinner expressed sincere regret for this deed and asked to remain in the
church. This request was granted by the conference. The conference also
recommended that Asa Woodham, Alexander Skinner, McKenzie Mozingo,
Matthew Harrell, Middleton DuBose, and Nicey Alexander come before the
society and . .. “acknowledge that if they have done or Said any thing to the
injury of any person, they are sorry.” All of the latter, except Middleton
DuBose, were members of Hebron Church. Because of the disciplinary
actions taken, the conference had to adjoin twice before all the licenses of
local preachers, exhorters, class leaders, and stewards could be completed."

The last official business of the conference in 1842 centered around the
recommendation of preachersto the South Carolina Conference fordeacon’s
orders and admission to the itinerancy. Milby Mixon, a local preacher at
Hebron the past four years, applied for a recommendation to the next South
Carolina Annual Conference for deacon’s orders. The circuit conference
granted his request. Spencer Atkinson of Sardis Church, asked for a recom-
mendation for admission into the itinerancy. The conference refused his
request.'?

The Darlington Circuit embarked in a new direction in 1843 under the
direction of Rev. Joel Wilson Townsend, circuit preacher. Townsend, forty-
three years of age, was a native of Marlborough District, South Carolina. First
licensed to preach in 1822 and admitted as an itinerant minister in 1823,
Townsend served the South Carolina Conference as an effective minister for
twenty years prior o his assignment to the Darlington Circuit. He assumed
this position grieving the loss of his wife of fiftcen years, Mary. Mary
Townsend died the previous year, 1842.1* At the First Quarterly Conference
of 1843, held at Philadelphia Church, it was moved that an auxiliary of the
Missionary Society of the South Carolina Conference be formed on the
Darlington Circuit. A committee composed of Rev. Jocl Wilson Townsend,
Robert Campbell, and William Brockinton was formed to study this pro-
posal. At the Third Quarterly Conference held at Wesley Chapel on August
5,1843, the committee presented a proposed constitution for the Missionary
Society to the thirty-two members present. Five officersand twelve managers
constituted the leadership of the society. Dues were set at fifty cents a year,
or a lifetime membership for five dollars. The conference approved the
constitution and elected William Brockinton, president; Middleton DuBose,

-
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parcel of land. The deed designated the land . . . “for the use and benefit of
said Church & Camp ground. .. .”*® Perhaps the size of the renewed camp
meetings required the purchase of the additional acreage. Joseph and Clarissa
A. Hendrix, wholived adjacent to the church, were able tosell a small portion
of their farm to enable Wesley Chapel to meet the needs of the campground.
Increasingly the campground hosted larger gatherings.

Rev. Hamer was assisted on the circuit during 1875 by Rev. William
Wesley Williams, Williams was bornin Richland District on July 24,1848, the
son of John Pritchett Williams and Nancy Leitner Williams. At the age of
eight, the family moved to the city of Columbia to take advantage of the
educational opportunities available there. Williams attended Columbia High
School and was taught by a local Methodist minister, F.W. Pope. Unfortu-
nately, Williams’ education was interrupted by the Civil War and he was
denied the opportunity to attend college. In the {all of 1865, at the age of
seventeen, Williams was able to sccure 2 job in a mercantile establishment.
Soon he became aware of the calling of the Lord, and devoted more attention
toreligious activities. On November 14,1874, Williams was licensed to preach
and by the end of the year was admitted on trial into the South Carolina
Conference. The Darlington Circuit was the first appointment for the young
preacher.*®

Rev. Williams proved 10 be an able assistant to Rev. Hamer. He was
described as a clear Gospe! preacher who won the love and confidence of the
Methodists on the circuit by his Christian life and sincere purpose 10 serve
God. Williams, to compensate {or his lack of education, applied himself 1o a
course of study first outlined by a former pastor, Rev. W.D. Kirkland. Over
the years a considerable library of religious books was acquired as Williams
continued his study. Despite this collection ol books, Rev, Williams was, first
and foremost, a student of the Biblz. The friendships Williams made on the
Darlington Circuit during his onc year of ministry there continued over many
years. On December 26, 1878, Williams married a native of Darlington
County, Laura King.®

A significant loss occurred within the Wesley Chapel family on February
25, 1875. Eliza Virginia Jones, daughter of Rev. Simpson Jones and his wife
Mary F. Jones, died al the age of twenty. She was born, August 18, 1854,
during Rev. Jones’ first assignment 1o the Darlington Circuit. During her
father’s periodic ministry on the circuit, the members of Wesley Chapel
watched Eliza grow into young womanhood. The Jones family, as well as the
community at large, mourned the death of Eliza Virginia Jones. She was
buried in Wesley Chapel Cemetery.™

In accordance with the laws of the state of South Carolina, Wesley Chapel
Methodist Episcopal Church, South applied for astate charter on August 13,
1875. Thirty individuals signed the petition presented to the state: Lewis
Lawson, W.R.S. Lawson, Stephen Wesley Harrell, Ira Martin Harrell, Nahum
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Galloway, Green Watford, Williams Best, Joseph Rhodes King, Rufus T.
Galloway, Samuel S. Dowling,J.C. Clements, James Register, D.G. DuBose,
Charles Talley Harrell, William L. Galloway, Henry Loyd, McKenzie Moz-
ingo, Thompson G. Harrell, I.P. Zimmerman King, Jesse Parrott, James N.
Ingram, H. Miller, S. Miller Harrell, Calvin R. King, Robert K. Kea, Hugh
Middleton Woodham, S. Best, E. Loyd, J.B. Truett, and Jacob Truett.2

Most of these men were representatives of families that had served the old
Gully Church for well over a generation. Wesley Chapel had long counted
among its family members of the Harrell, Lawson, Galloway, Best, Clements,
Register, and Loyd families. Relative newcomers were also listed on the
charter application. Green Watford’s association with Wesley Chapel may
have been the result of his marriage to Rebecca Clements.** The King
brothers, Joseph Rhodes King and Calvin R. King, were no strangers to
Methodism on the Darlington Circuit. Their grandfather, William (Factory
Billy) King, was considered the patriarch of Snow Hill Methodist Church.
D.G.DuBose,James N. Ingram, H. Miller, Robert K. Kea, J.B. Truett, Jacob
Truett, and their families made substantial contributions to Wesley Chapel
for the remainder of the nineteenth century and into the twentieth century.

The remaining gentlemen listed on the petition for a church charter were
all members of sister churches on the Darlington Circuit in 1875. Samuel S.
Dowling was a representative of Philadelphia Church, formerly Dowling’s
Meeting House. The Dowling family was among those [irst counted as
Methodists in Darlington County. McKenzie Mozingo had long been associ-
ated with Hebron Methodist Church as a local preacher. Mozingo was listed
briefly as a member of Wesley Chapel during the 1880’s,* but was buried at
Hebron, indicating he never fully disassociated himself from that church.
Israel Pinkney Zimmerman King, brother of Joseph Rhodes King and Calvin
R. King, was a member of Snow Hill Methodist Church for many years. He
later moved his membership to Damascus Methodist Church near Hartsville.
Jesse Parrott was a member at Bethel Methodist Church. Hugh Middleton
Woodham represented Hebron Methodist Church. The Woodham family
could look back on the efforts of Ariss Woodham to promote Methodism in
the old Pee Dee Circuit and Lynches Creek Circuit in the early 1800's with
pride.

At end of 1875, the Darlington Circuit was split by the South Carolina
Conference. Hebron and Cypress were taken from the Darlington Circuit
and united with Union, Prospect, and Hebron of the Chesterfield Circuit.
This new circuit was called the Hebron Circuit. So much dissatisfaction was
expressed by the members of Hebron and Cypress Churches of Darlington
County, that these churches were removed from the newly formed Hebron
Circuit in 1876. Hebron was returned to the Darlington Circuit. This circuit
now consisted of Wesley Chapel, Hebron, Snow Hill, and Damascus. Cypress
joined the Lower Darlington Circuit with Bethel, Philadelphia, and Newman
Swamp.*
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continued to grow in size during Hamer’s tenure on the circuit.

Rev. Thomas W. Munnerlyn returned to the Darlington Circuit in 1878,
Nearly two decades earlier Munnerlyn had served as the junior preacher on
the circuit under the leadership of Rev. Paul Franklin Kistler. Rev. Munner-
lyn reported that the Sunday Schools did not begin their sessions this year
until March 1, Munnerlyn stated that the schools were in “tolerable good
shape”,* but felt if the older members of the church were to take a greater
interest, the schools could be greatly improved., The minister also reported
that there was a great need for a revival of religion on the circuit.s’

Wesley Chapel was the host to many secular as well as religious activities
during the summer and fall of 1878. On Saturday, August 10, the campground
at Wesley Chapel was the site of a military festival. The day began with a
baseball game between the Gully (Wesley Chapel) and Cypress teams at
nearby Harrell’s Mill. The Gully team was victorious by a score of twenty to
seven. Ateleven A.M,, people from the surrounding area began to gather at
the campground. A visitor described the scene.

A more lovely place than the Gully Camp Ground in Summer could not be
found in the County of Darlington, and possibly not in the whole state. ... The
magnificent snow-white church-building, situated as it is on a cozy little hill,
overspread by a grove of stately oaks, and encircled by a littie village of neatly-
construcled tents, here you find a picture of wealth, romance and moral beauty
combined. ¢
AtnoonMr. Gibbs of Stokes Bridge delivered an address on soldiery. Maj.

Albertus Chambers Spain was called on next and gave a speech on the
subjects of education, agriculture, and the military. Afterwards the crowd
brought their prepared lunches out for a grand picnic. A military parade
concluded the festival at the Gully Campground

The regular camp meeting was held at the campground during late August
and early September.”® The Third Quarterly Conference met in conjunction
with the camp meeting, renewing a custom practiced before the Civil War.
The Sunday Schools of the circuit were reported (o be strong with over 200
children in attendance. McKenzie Mozingo and Joseph Hendrix both re-
ceived a renewal of their licenses to preach.”

Wesley Chapel was the site of two other noteworthy events during
September and October of 1878, the Democratic Club of Lydia meeting’ and
the Special County Fair, Political meetlings were common at the church. The
campground was a convenient site 10 host large numbers of people. The
organizers of the Special County Fair,].W. Beasley, T.J. Price, T.J. Bell,John
W.Woodham, and Alonzo W. Parrott, invited all interested citizens to exhibit
their colts on Saturday, October 5. Local military units were invited, as well
as the Timmonsville brass band.” The campground was increasingly the
center of social activities for the entire western portion of Darlington County
during the late 1870°s and early 1880’s.
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&
Woesley Chapel was able to overcome the division resulting from the
aeparture of Rev.Peyton Green Bowman. During the period 1873-1878, able
B ministers such as John Boykin Campbell, Simpson Jones, and Lewis Meyers
F Hamer enabled Wesley Chapel and the Darlington Circuit to recover from
- the unusual events surrounding Bowman's ministry. These ministers, with
k: the advice of the local leadership, saw the wisdom of resurrecting the camp

‘meeting as a means of bringing a spiritual revival to Wesley Chapel and the

£ ment. A slow change was enveloping society asa whole. Again Wesley Chapel
E: would need to adapt its ministry in response Lo the changing needs of its
& members.
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Wesley Chapel and McKenzie Mozingo were renewed by the Third Quar-
terly Conference.'”

“The Gully Camp Meeting will open tomorrow night, 26 instant.™ Thus
reported the September 25,1879 issue of the Darlington News. Once again the
faithful from the Darlington Circuit, and beyond, descended upon the
campground to continue a tradition which began in 1802. Another tradition,
although not nearly as old, continued again this year, The Quarterly Confer-
ence of the Darlington Circuit met at Wesley Chapel during the camp
meeting, on September 27. The custom had developed over the years to meet
the Third or Fourth Quarterly Conference in conjunction with the annual
camp meeting. J.C. Stoll, the presiding elder; Rev. David D. Dantzler, the
preacherincharge; and visiting minister Rev. SimpsonJones represented the
South Carolina Conference. Officials of the Darlington Circuit present
included Hugh Middleton Woodham, W.G. King, John W. Terry, J.E.
Woodham, E.D. Wright, W.R.S. Lawson, Stephen Wesley Harrell, J.C.
Clements, Ira Martin Harrell, and Rufus T. Galloway. The five last named
gentlemen represented Wesley Chapel. Rev. David D. Dantzler reported
that the general condition of the churches on the circuit was good. A special
meeting had been held at each church and fifty-seven had been received into
membership. Most of these new members joined the society at Damascus.'?

One of the more notable additions to Wesley Chapel's membership rolls
during the late summer of 1879, was Cato Ashe Seabrook, the principal of
Epworth Academy.'® Seabrook, a native of Charleston, was a highly re-
spected educator. He was described as. .. “a gentleman of culture and a good
teacher ...” who taught the students of Epworth . .. “not only reading and
writing but the higher branches of English and the languages.”"* Seabrook
took an active part in Wesley Chapel’s Sunday School program, eventually
serving as its secretary.’

The Quarterly Conference also heard reports from Rev. Dantzler con-
cerning the Sunday Schools of the circuit and a recent death. Sunday School
attendance was reported to be 200, with thirty-five officers. Dantzler re-
ported, probably with some measure of regret, that there was some inclina-
tion to discontinue the Sunday Schools during the winter months. Dantzler
noted that the church at Snow Hill lost a trusted leader to death during
August, John W. King. King had long served as a Sunday School superinten-
dent at Snow Hill. The conference voted to reserve a page in the minute book
to King's memory.'¢

The stewardship report for the year 1879 was bright, at least from Wesley
Chapel’s point of view. The church was assessed $303.70 for support of the
ministry and $61.99 for support of missions. Collections exceeded the amount
assessed by $1.45. In addition, the four churches on the circuit contributed
$35.00 to the Sunday School program and $360.00 to the building of a new
parsonage. The circuit owned property consisting of the four churches and
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the campground. All were considered to be in good condition and valued at
$6,000. Stewards for the upcoming year included J.C. Clements, W.R.S.
Lawson,and Rufus T. Galloway of Wesley Chapel; Hugh Middleton Woodham
and J.E. Woodham of Hebron; John W. Terry and Wiley Scarborough King
of Snow Hill; and E.D. Wright of Damascus. J.C. Clements was also elected
district steward. Trustees for the parsonage property were also elected:
W.R.S.Lawson,J.C. Clements,John E. Woodham, Wiley Scarborough King,
and E.D. Wright."” D

The decade of the 1880's saw the demise of the camp meeting at the Gully
Campground. The actual date of the last camp meeting cannot be determined
withaccuracy, butit can be written that thisinstitution did not survive into the
last decade of the nineteenth century.'® Its decline was not immediately
recognized by all. Rev. John W. McRoy, later a minister on the Darlington
Circuit, described the 1880 camp meeting at the Gully for the Southern
Christian Advocate.

The services were attended by thousands, and | never saw better order. The

people were sorry to sce the meeting close . . . the alter was thronged hour after
hour. ..."®

McRoy related that thirteen ministers, including one Presbyterian minis-
ter, were present to serve the spiritual nceds of the vast crowds.?

An entirely different opinion of the same camp meelting was given by
Thompson G. Harrell, a long time member of Wesley Chapel. Harrell's reply
toMcRoy’s description of the camp meeting could be considered an obituary
of camp meetings at the Gully.

I have been tenting at the Gully occasionally for nearly [ifty years. .. . |
noticed all through the [ August meeting, during services at the stand, the young
people coupled off, Maunting round and round, back and forth, to the great
annoyance of the services at the stand, and to the universal mortification of the
tent holders. I have . . . heard at least a dozen of the tent holders express
themselves as utterly opposed lo so much promenading at camp-meetings, and
if there is no way tostop it, they will desist from tenting hereafter. It reminds me
of the Scotch Fairs we used to have in North Carolina. ... In newly, thinly settled
countries where churches are few and far between, camp-meetings are produc-
tive ... but here where we are in convenient distance of five or six churches . . .
many think that they are productive of more harm than good to our church. 1
remember from forty to fifty years ago, in the days of Father Jenkins, Charles
Betts, and others, at ourchurch at camp-meeting, hundreds were converted and
joined the church. You saw no display among the tenters; they were poor
homespun people; occupiedclap-board tents, some of them covered with brush;
eal their meals spread on 2 cloth in the tent on the straw; no {launting around;
the people went there to do and get good. Now .. . our dressing must be of the
finest material; our tables groaning under the weight of luxuries . . . and the
strictest etiquette observed throughout the meelting.?

_Inthe Gully’s long history of camp meetings, it was not unusual to have a
disruptive element present. During the last few years of the Gully Camp
Meeting the officials of the campground read from the stand a list of rules at

-
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seventy-two scholars enrolled at the beginning of the term. By the middle of
May, enrollment had surged to ninety-five. Under Rev. McRoy's leadership,
Sunday School usually began with a hymn followed by a Scripture reading.
The Sunday School lesson was next taught in the various classes by the
teachers. Dismissal was preceded by the reading of the Apostles’ Creed. The
program continued to be strong until the early fall, when the attendance
began to drop substantiaily.*®

The spring and summer of 1882 saw several changes in the membership of
Wesley Chapel. One member was lost todeath and two members moved from
the Wesley Chapel area and withdrew their membership. Elizabeth C.
Harrell, the wife of Ira Martin Harrell, died June 19, 1882, after along illness.
Harrell, fifty-eight years old, had long been active at Wesley Chapel ®
Thompson G. Harrell, son of Spencer Harrell and a trustee at Wesley Chapel,
moved with his family to Florida during the summer of 1882. J. Wesley
Beasley was elected at the Fourth Quarterly Conlerence to fill the vacancy
created by Harrell’s departure > Robert C. Galloway, the son of James and
Elizabeth Galloway,™ withdrew his membership from Wesley Chapel during
this same summer after a move to Darlington. Galloway had joined the
church under the ministry of Rev. David D. Dantzler in 1879.%?

Rev. John W. McRoy made note of the death and burial of a long time
Methodist during July of 1882, Mrs. Rebecca Mason. She died at the home of
her son-in-law, Rev. James T. Kilgo.® Rev. Kilgo served Philadelphia Meth-
odist Church, among others, of the Lower Darlington Circuil. Mrs, Mason
was born on November 15, 1803, in Fairfield District, South Carolina. She
married Rev. Washington Mason anJune 22, 1826, Rev, Mason died early in
life, ieaving his widow with three young children to raise. Upon her death on
July 8 Mason had been a devoted member of the Methodist Church for over
sixty years. “She was buried at Gully Campground. . . . She was the oldest
member of Bethel Church, Fairficld Circuit. . . .”* Because Philadelphia
Church did not have a cemetery, it was the practice during most of the 1800's
10 bury those persons associated with that church at Wesley Chapel.

Wesley Chapel ushered in a new year in robust health, The church could
boast 189 lay members, 2 local preachers, and 106 pupils in its Sunday School
program. The sanctuary was valued at $2,500 and the campground facilities
were valued al an additional $500. During 1882, the members of the circuit
contributed $17.15 for camp meeting purposes. No other mention of a
possible camp meeting occurs, Thecircuit parsonage, located adjacent to the
Wesley Chapel church grounds, was worth $1,000.> Rev. Alex W, Moore
served the Methodists on the Darlington Circuit during 1883. Moore was first
admitted tothe South Carolina Conference in 1864, and served the Methodist
Church until his location in 1885.% The year proved to be an eventful year for
the Methodists of Wesley Chapel and the circuit. Wesley Chapel, under
Moore’s leadership, saw the demise of its sister society, Snow Hill. At the
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same time, Wesley Chapel welcomed into membership some of those dislo-
cated by Snow Hill’s passing. Wesley Chapel’s Sunday School program was
also the beneficiary of the talents of two young men not previously associated
with the church.

Rev. Alex W. Moore was warmly welcomed into the circuit parsonage by
the members of Wesley Chapel and the circuit. For the second year in a row
the parsonage was warmed by a blazing fire in the fireplace and the dining
room table piled high with food in anticipation of a new minister’s arrival.
Rev. Moore was favorably impressed by his welcome. The facilities of Wesley
Chapel and the prestige of the campground also impressed Moore. He
described the scene in a letter to the Southern Christian Advocate soon after
his arrival on the circuit.

The church buildings are large and commodious. Wesley Chapel, at the

Gully, is one of the largest edifices of the kind I have seen in the country; and

I am told that it is pretty well filled, even on ordinary occasions. The camp-

ground was admirably located, ten years ago, through the foresight and energy

of Bro.J.B.Campbell.... The arborislarge, and covered withshingles; the tents,

which are numerous, are weather boarded. From the back piazza of the

parsonage we look out upon the church and campground, located in a grove of
oak and pine. Great multitudes have been wont to assemble here, from this and
neighboring counties, on campmeelting occasions.S’?

The stewards wasted no time in meeting with the new minister to attend to
some of the pressing needs of the Darlington Circuit. On January 6, 1883, the
Board of Stewards met at the parsonage with Rev. Moore. W.R.S. Lawson
and J.C. Clements of Wesley Chapel, were elected chairman and secretary,
respectively. Other members present included John E. Woodham, Hugh
Middleton Woodham, and L.D. King. The salary of the minister was set at
$800 for the upcoming year, an increase of $25 over the previous year'ssalary.
The most important business taken up by the board concerned the member-
ship of Snow Hill and Damascus churches. The stewards signed a petition
recommending the membership of the two churches unite at Parrott’s X
Roads (Parrott’s Cross Roads) (o establish a new church at that place % This
decision led to the disbandment of Snow Hill. Damascus Methodist Church
was able to continue to operate for another decade, until most of its members
united with Wesley Methodist Church in Hartsville.

The establishment of a new church at Parrott’s Cross Roads moved swiftly.
At the First Quarterly Conference held on February 10, at Damascus, the
Plans for unification of the churches were discussed. A committee was
appointed from officials of the Darlington and Lower Darlington Circuits to
discuss the possibility of conducting preaching at the schoolhouse located at
Parrott’s Cross Roads. The officials of the Lower Darlington Circuit were
consulted with the view that the membership of Bethel Church, from that
circuit, would also benefit from a new church at Parrott’s Cross Roads. On
February 24, Rev. Moore organized a society at Parrott’s Cross Roads with
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The Fourth Quarterly Conference of the Darlington Circuit passed the
following resolution upon the death of Lewis Lawson:

Whereas, Bro, Lewis Lawson, who was a member of this Quarterly Confer-
ence for a half Century, filling the various offices in the gift of the Quarterly
Conf. with a fidelity worthy a devoted servant of Jesus Christ, the Great Head
of the Church, has been removed from the Church Militant of the Church
triumphant.

Resolved 1" Thal we feel and express our graditude 1o our Heavenly Father,
whose providence brought in our midst one whose influence, and labor have
largely contributed to building up Methodism in the Darlington Circuit, and for
the grace which comforted and sustained him through a long and useful life and
supported him in death,

Resolved 2" That in the death of our brother [we] are low with humble
submission Lo the will of Him who does all things for the best.

Resolved 3" That a copy of this preamble and resolution be sent 10 the family
of the deceased, and to the 5.C. Advocate, and to the Christian Neighbor [or
publication.

Oclober 18", 1884
E.T. Hodges
Otiver Parrott
Williams Best®®

Stephen P. Galloway also died during 1884, al the age of fifty-five.
Galloway was born August 26, 1829, In the decade prior 1o the Civil War he
served Wesley Chapel as a class leader. During the war Galloway fought as
a private in Company G of the 21* Regiment of South Carolina Volunteers.
He was buried in Wesley Chapel Cemetery adjacent to four of his children *

In the midst of these deaths, Wesley Chapel, and the entire South Carolina
Conference, continued preparations for the celebration of Methodism's
centennial year in the state. The celebrations on the Darlington Circuit
centered on two services held at Wesley Chapel. The first centennial event
scheduled tobe held at Wesley Chapel was a district wide mass meeting. This
was followed a month and a half later by a special Children’s Centenary Day.¥
Before Wesley Chapeland the Methodists of the Darlington Circuit observed
these occasions, the pastor and Professor Samuel Herbert Zimmerman were
invited to participate in centenary events in Bishopville, On June 21, both
men were present at a program hosted by the Bishopville Sunday School.
Zimmerman opened the program with a lesson entilled, “A Black Heart
Verses a Pure One.” After a short talk by another invited guest, Elwyn
Rogers, Rev. E.T. Hodges delivered the centenary address. The hour long
address impressed those present, even to the point that the teachers and
students were seen taking notes.®®

The centennial celebration at Wesley Chapel was well planned and well
attended. The gathering 100k the form of a mass meeting. Rev. Frank H.
Wood of the North Carolina Conference was the guest minister on the day of
the celebration, August 9. Rev. Wood . . . “preached a powerful sermon to a
large and apprecialive congregation, setting forth the peculiar and distinctive
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doctrines and policy of the Methodist Church.”® The second part of the
centennial observance occurred September 27. Wesley Chapel designated
that Saturday as Children’s Centenary Day. The results of the children’s
celebration was described as . . . “both pleasant and profitable.”™ Special
collections were taken during the centennial observances. J.C. Clements was
elected treasurer of the Centenary Fund. The first money collected was
appropriated to the building of aservant’s house on the parsonage property.”

The work of the church did not cease after the hundredth anniversary of
South Carolina Methodism. Each subsequent year added to the luster of
Methodism in Darlington County. As 1885 began, Wesley Chapel continued
toencourage its members to be ever faithful in the Lord’s work as it had done
the previous ninety-six years. Officers of the church for this year included
Joseph Hendrix, local elder, Stephen Wesley Harrell, trustee, Ira Martin
Harrell, trustee and steward, W.R.S. Lawson, trustee, steward, and class
leader, J. Wesley Beasley, steward and Sunday School superintendent,
Williams Best, steward, C.T. Harrell, steward, Thomas D. King, steward and
trustee, J.C. Clements, steward and trustee, Samuel Herbert Zimmerman,
class leader, Dr. William L. Galloway, class leader, R.M. Galloway, class
leader, Albert Hart Best, class leader, and J.W. Stuckey, class leader. Real-
izing that one of the keys to a successful church was the continued improve-
ment of church property, the trustees of Wesley Chapel purchased and
installed two new coal stoves during the winter of 1885. The trustees also took
steps to improve the cemetery grounds.®?

The circuit continued to give its attention to the Snow Hill property during
1885. A committee of five was appointed to confer with the trustees of the
Snow Hill property. J.C. Clements, J.E. Woodham, Stephen W. Harrell,
W.R.S. Lawson, and John W. Terry served on this committee. The ultimate
goal of the committee was the sale of the property.*?

Attendance at worship services continued to be good during 1885, but the
minister saw the need for some improvement. Rev. Hodges felt that... . “there
is need of more spirituality, more family prayer, and a higher appreciation of
the church conference.” Wesley Chapel’'s membership grew steadily during
the year. During 18853, Henry B. Skinner, Louisa F. Skinner, Mary E. Howle,
Lizzie S. Zimmerman, Ellerbe E. King, Elias Reddick, Sarah Reddick, and
Fifine Parrott joined with Wesley Chapel %

Two deaths struck the membership of Wesley Chapel during 1885, one an
infant full of promise, and one a leader who had devoted most of his adult life
to the service of God at Wesley Chapel. The infant daughter of Samuel
Herbert and Lizzie S. Zimmerman died during 1885, leaving the stunned
parents to cope with the lost of their first born child. Rev. Hodges was called
upon to conduct the funeral services of the child. One year earlier he had been
called upon to marry the Zimmermans. A simple marker in Wesley Chapel’s

cemetery marks ‘her resting place: “Infant dau. of S.H. & L.S. Zimmerman
1885.m9s
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Wesley Chapel took the first steps toward the establishment of a perma-
. *nent cemetery association during the summer of 1887. On July 14, a group of
indivduals interested in the preservation and upkeep of Wesley Chapel
- Cemetery met together at the church. J.C, Clements was elected president
‘and Samuel Herbert Zimmerman was selected as secretary of the Wesley
" Chapel Cemetery Association. Rev. Simpson Jones made a motion that a
committee be appointed to insure that the cemetery was properly maintained
for the coming year.J.C. Clements, William J, Oates, James Register, W.R.S.
Lawson, and Lemuel E, Watford were appointed (o this commitiee. A
committee, consisting of Dr. Henry J. Lee, Thomas H. Parrott,and Craven N,
QOates, was also appointed to draw up bylaws for the association. The bylaws
later adopted listed the duties of the officers, procedures relating to the
cemetery assessments, the upkeep of the cemetery, the annual meeting date,
and how deep graves should be dug (four and a half feet). The first meeting
of the Wesiey Chapel Cemetery Association adjourned after agreeing to
meet again in 1888, on the third Sunday in July.!'?

The years 1879 through 1887 saw Wesley Chape! slowly disassociate itself
from the institution that first brought notoriety to the Methodists of Darling-
ton County, the camp meeting. No doubt the decision to discontinue this
annual event was difficult, but the members of Wesley Chapel realized that
itwas no longer effective in bringing God’s message tosinners. Perhaps Rev.
John W._McRoy saw the future of the camp meeting in 1880, when he wrote
of leaving the Gully Campground:

1
[
aE
t(
1

.. who could be associated with the Millers, Lucases, Kings, Craigs . . .
Galloways, Parrotts, Woodhams, Lawsons, Stewarts, Wallaces, and DuBoses,
and the rest, without feeling sad at parting, ard earnestly hoping lo meet again,
if not in this life, on the great camp-ground where Jesus will be in charge, where
the angels will be the lent holders, and where all will be shaded by the tree, and
watered by the river of life,}"*

The use of the revival soon demonstrated that the same results could be
achieved without some of the problems that came to be associated with the
camp meeting. The Methodists of Wesley Chapel were active on other fronts
as well. The church sanctuary was remodeled and a new parsonage built in
time for the centennial celebrations held at Wesley Chapel. Wesley Chapel,
as well as the other churches on the Darlington Circuit, enjoyed a vigorous
Sunday School program. This program became (he focus of much time,
attention, and financial consideration. The positive results of the Sunday
Schools were not long in coming. Samuel Herbert Zimmerman, Sunday
School teacher and leader, left Wesley Chapel and became a Methodist

- minister inlater years. Albert Hart Best, astudent in Wesley Chapel’s Sunday
School Bible Class also devoted his life to the Methodist ministry. The
benefits of this instruction to the children of the church could not be denied.

Itisgood that the Sunday School activities trained the children of the church

£yt -
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Chapel. He became conscious of the Lord’s call into the ministry at an early
age. After attending Vanderbilt University and Wofford College, Best was
admitted on trial into the South Carolina Conference in November, 1889. In
1891, Best was ordained a deacon in Darlington by Bishop Granbery. Bishop
Hargrave ordained Best an elder in 1893. Best married Lillie Andrews of
Darlington County, February 25, 1890. Seven children were born to this
union, Louise, Marvin Andrews, Robert Henry, Alliene, Lillie, Albert Hart,
Jr. and Susan, Lillic Best died December 13, 1911, Rev. Albert Hart Best
married his second wife, Mrs. M. Ella (Smith) Littlejohn, on June 22, 1915.
Best was active as a minister until 19221

With the demise of the annual camp meeting, the Methodists of the
Darlington Circuit enlisted the services of another weapon in their arsenal,
the revival. During the first two weeks of July, 1886, a revival was held at
Wesley Chapel. Two visiting ministers assisted Rev. Hodges in the services,
Rev. Martin Luther Banks and Professor V.C. Dibble. During the first week
of the revival, Rev. Banks conducted four services. The results were encour-
aging. The altar was crowded with those in need of prayer. Professor Dibble
of Trinity Methodist Church in Charleston, was the guest speaker the second
week of the revival, Fifteen individuals applied for membership during the
two week revival. The revival next visited Hebron, with Professor Dibble
againserving as guest minister. Rev. Edward Toland Hodges followed up the
success of the revival with a number of visits to the homes of members to
encourage the establishment of family altars. Because of his devotion and
labors on the Darlington Circuit, the Quarterly Conference voted the pastor
a three week leave of absence as a token of their appreciation.’®

As 1886 came 1o a close, the Methodists on the Darlington Circuit were
enjoying preat success. The Sunday School program reached record atten-
dance, 402 students and twenty-nine teachers. There were 460 individuals
who were members of the churches on the circuit, and the spiritual condition
of those members was greatly improved. Teninfants and forty-six adults were
baptized during 1886 on the circuit. The sanctuary at Wesley Chapel was
reported to be in good condition with a value of $2,500. The trustees reported
the parsonage to be in fair condition and valued at $1,200.'°

The work of Rev. Edward Toland Hodges was not yet complete on the
Darlington Circuit. His final year on the circuit saw a continuation of the
successes of 1886. The dedication of Rev. Hodges.to the Sunday School
program continucd toshow results. Attendance increased to450%students and
teachers on the circuit. The members of Wesley Chapel also showed an
interest in a Sunday School program located at Lydia. The congregations at
worship services were encouraging. New members continued to join and the
financtal condition of the churches on the circuit remained strong.''! A revival
was again held at Wesley Chapel. Rev. John W, Murray of the Lower
Darlington Circuit conducted several services during August.’'?
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amount of attention from the members of the circuit. The minister felt that the
study of the catechisms by the students would pay substantial benefits.® The
Darlington Circuit was able to pay in full its missions’ apportionment by mid-
March. Rev. Bethea had encouraged the members of each Church to give to
the missions program by circulating literature and preaching on the impor-
tance of foreign and domestic missions.”

The First Quarterly Conference of 1893, which actually met December 31,
1892, considered a request by William Augustus Massebeau to be licensed as
a local preacher. Massebeau was examined by the conference and unani-
mously approved as a local preacher.” Massebeau was admitted into the
South Carolina Conference in November, 1893 as an itinerant minister.”

The Darlington Circuit lost two stewards and a trustee to death during the
first three months of 1893, John W. Terry, John E. Woodham, and Elias
Grantham. Of the three officials, Terry was active in Wesley Chapel, while
Woodham and Grantham were associated with Hebron. John W. Terry was
born in Richmond County, North Carolina, December 8, 1830. Terry was
converted and joined the Methodist Church in 1850. For many years Terry
was associated with the society at Snow Hill, then with Wesley Chapel. Terry
served Snow Hill for several years as Sunday School superintendent and was
active at the time of his death as a steward ol Wesley Chapel. John W. Terry
was survived by a wife and five daughters; three sons predeceased their
father.” The epitaph on Terry’s tombstone read:

MODEST AND UNASSUMING IN HIS DEVELOPMENT.
FAITHFUL AND HONEST IN HIS DEALINGS,
HE LIVED RESPECTED AND DIED LAMENTED"

Spring was a busy time for the members of Wesley Chapel. Easter services
at Wesley Chapel were well attended. The church was decorated beautifully
for the special service. Rev. Bethea preached a sermon from Matthew 28:6.
Miss Mary Harrell, Wesley Chapel’s organist, provided appropriate music for
the occasion.” In May, Wesley Chapel purchased a handsome communion
service on which the church’s name was engraved.”

The Darlington Circuit again proved to be the training ground for future
Methodist ministers. The Third Quarterly Conference of the Darlington
Circuit unanimously granted Russell Easterling Mood a license to preach
June 30, 1893. Mood had joined as a member of the circuit by transfer of
certificate in the latter part of 1892.”” Russell Easterling Meod was born in
Georgetown, the son of Rev. John A. Mood and his wile, Mary Easterling
Mood. During his youth, before starting school, Mood was taught to read the
Bible by his parents. He later attended the Bennettsville Academy and
Wofford College. After graduation from Wofford College, Mood served as
principal to several different schools including Blenheim High School, St.
George’s Collegiate Institute, and Summerton High School. Mood came to
Darlington County as principal of the Union Academy. Mood expressed a
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desire tobecome a Christian educator and to cultivate the entire personality
of his students. Mood later moved to Marion County and was recommended
tothe South Carolina Annual Conference by the Blenheim Circuit. He joined
the South Carolina Conference as a minister on trial in 1894.7

One of the highlights of the year for the Darlington Circuit occurred
Sunday, October 15, the dedication of the new Methodist Church at Ashland.
People from all sections of Darlington County, as well as persons from
neighboring Chesterfield, Kershaw, and Sumter Counties, were in alten-
dance. Rev. J.C. Kilgoof Wolford College preached the sermon of dedication
to the large crowd of 400 persons gathered. Rev. Kilgo used John 1:14 as his
text. The sermon was equal to the occasion. The dedication was espectally
joyous to the members of the church present. The new church was dedicated
without the shadow of debt over it. The new church took the name Corinth.™

Corinth’s beginning was encouraging in other ways as well. Dedicated
workers, W.V. Moore being the most noteworthy, ensurcd that the church
met the needs of Methodists in the Ashland community. Moore organized
Corinth’s first Sunday School nearly six months prior to the official dedica-
tion of the church. Nearly {ifty students were in regular attendance. Moore
took the position of superintendent of the Sunday Schoaol and ensured its
success.® The religious zeal at Corinth did not end with the dedication service.
The week afler the service protracted meetings were held at the church with
a great crowd in attendance. The altar was surrounded by many penitent
individuais *

Rev. Bethea, as he concluded his work on the Darlington Circuit, left with
a feeling of accomplishment. The programs of the circuit had been strength-
ened under his stewardship. Membership increased with revivals at each
church adding 1o the ranks of the believers as well as nourishing the faith of
the committed. Bethea also saw the establishment and completion of a new
Methodist church in the Ashland community, Corinth. Wesley Chapel re-
mained steadfast in the work of the Lord and looked forward to continued
growth in the years to come.

The Darlington Circuit was fortunate to receive Rev. Pierce Fleming Kilgo
as its minister during the years 1894 through 1897, Pierce Fleming Kilgo was
born in Cokesbury, South Carolina, May 18, 1867, the son of Rev. James
Tillman and Cathcerine Kilgo. After an education in the public schools of
South Carolina, Pierce Fleming Kilgo atiended Wofford College. Soon after
graduation from Wolford in 1888, he married Nettie Bethea. Kilgo was
conscious of a call to the ministry at an carly age. At the age of ten, Kilgo
joined the Methodist Church in Bishopville, South Carolina. A year before
his graduation from Wofford, Kilgo was licensed to preach, In December,
1888, he was admitted on trial into the South Carolina Conference. Prior to
his appointment to the Darlington Circuit, Rev. Picrce Fleming Kilgo scrved
Lancaster, Greenwood, and Cheraw.®
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the agricultural interests of the county during his life of active public service."

Among the first new members welcomed to Wesley Chapel by Rev. Davis
was the Hay family. Reuben Hay, Sarah E. Hay, and their children, Sallie E.
and Clarence B. Hay, joined the church by transfer of their certificates.?

Rev. Davis had only been in Darlington County for a short period of time
when he was called upon to preach the funeral of one of Wesley Chapel’s
leaders, W.R.S. Lawson. Lawson died March 22, 1899. William Robert
Spencer Lawson was born December 25, 1831, the son of Lewis and Helena
Harrell Lawson. Lawson's wife of nearly twenty-six years, Julia Ann, died the
previous year.? W.R.S. Lawson had been a member of Wesley Chapel for
fifty-twoyears. Lawson followed the example of service to Wesley Chapelset
by his father, Lewis Lawson, and grandfather, Spencer Harrell. W.R.S.
Lawson served as Sunday School superintendent, trustee, and steward. For
over twenty years, Lawson held the office of chairman of the Board of
Stewards. The Third Quarterly Conference of the Darlington Circuit meeting
at Wesley Chapel passed a resolution concerning the death of W.R.S.
Lawson. This resolution read in part:

...hewas. .. always ready and willing to give his best energies 1o the cause
of the Master; Therefore, be it
Resolved . . . That this church and charge has sustained a most grievous

deprivation, his family an irreparable loss, and the community deprived of a

most useful and worthy citizen.*?

As spring began, Rev. Davis worked with the members of the circuit to
establish and publish a preaching schedule for the churches of the Darlington
Circuit. Rev. Davis preached at Wesley Chapel the first three Sundays of each
monthat 11:00 A.M. Onthe first and third Sundays of each month, Rev. Davis
preached at Hebron at 3:30 P.M., and on the fourth Sunday, preaching was
held at Hebron at 11:00 A.M. Preaching was scheduled at Ashland on the
second and fourth Sundays of each month at 3:30 P.M.Z

The annual Sunday School Convention was held at Cypress Church May
16-18, 1899. The Sunday Schools of the Darlington Circuit were well repre-
sented at this convention. Rev. Davis presided over a session held on
Wednesday, May 17, entitled, ‘Parental Training, How, when, where, and
why?’ He also delivered the sermon at the Wednesday evening gathering.?

Rev. Davis gave special praise to the Sunday School programs of Wesley
Chapel and Ashland during the Second and Third Quarterly Conferences.
The Wesley Chapel program increased its enrollment and seemed to be
maintaining the interest of the children. The children of Wesley Chapel had
donated $2.86 to mission work through the Sunday School. The program had
recently been upgraded by the addition of several new teaching positions and
the purchase of new maps at a cost of $10.00. The enrollment of the Sunday
Schools at Ashland exceeded that of the church. The superintendent of the
Ashlandschool, P.P. Bethea, complained that the attendance was not as good
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asitshould have been. Davis felt the spiritual life of the circuit was not as good
as it could have been either. If he could have made changes in the members
spiritual lives, he would have given ... “the church of God and her interests
a larger place in many minds than it seems now to have.”®

The passing of the older generation continued on the Darlington Circuit
during 1899. Two of Hebron's most respected leaders, Hugh Middleton
Woodham and local preacher, McKenzie Mozingo, died during the year.
Both men had served Methodism at Hebron Church for several decades. The
entire circuit mourned their passing.®

The Lydia community was shocked by the death of one of its most
prominent citizens, Dr. Henry J. Lee, on October 7. The events leading to his
death created sensational headlines in the county newspapers. Gn Thursday,
October 5, Dr. Henry J. Lee was mortally wounded by his son, Dr. Maxcy
Gregg Lee. The elder Lee lived for two days after the shooting. During this
time Lee stated that his son deliberately shot him after an argument. During
a drunkened rage Dr. Maxcy Gregg Lee had threatencd to kill the Lee’s
housekeeper. When Dr. Lee admonished hisson, he was shot with ashot gun.
Shortly before his death, Dr. Lee told an attending physician, Dr. RB.R.C.
Wallace, “*Maxcy shot me wilfully and deliberately.” Dr, Henry J. Lee was
born in Sumter District on October 2, 1829. He was the son of Oran D. and
Susan McKecnzie Lee. Early in his life, his parents moved to the Stokes Bridge
area of Darlington District. Lee graduated from the South Carolina Medical
College in 1854. Dr. Lee moved to the Lydia community and became a
partner of Dr. Christopher J. Flinn. In 1856, Dr. Lee married Olivia Lavinia
Perry of Lancaster District, South Carolina. The couple were parents toeight
children, Fannie, Henry J.,Samuel Henry Dixon , Maxcy Gregg, George O.,
Susan Olivia, Robert Edward, and Fitzhugh. During the Civil War, Lee
served in the 21* Regiment of South Carolina Volunteers, eventuaily obtain-
ing the rank of Lieutenant. After the war, Lee served his community in a
variety of ways. He represented Darlington County in the South Carolina
General Assembly from 1892 10 1893. Funeral services were held for Dr. Lee
at Wesley Chapel on Sunday morning, October 8. He was buried in Wesley
Chapel Cemetery with full masonic honors. Dr. Maxcy Gregg Lee was tried
and convicted for the murder of his father. He was sentenced to life in the
penitentiary ¥

In November Rev. Davis looked back on his year of service to the
Methodists of Wesley Chapel, Hebron, and Ashland. The circuit’s general
condition was as good as he had seen it during his limited stay. The circuit
continued to emphasize its Sunday School program. Over 270 students were
enrolled at the three churches under the supervision of twenty-eight teachers
and officers. Recently $44.00 had been expended on literature for the
children. Wesley Chapel had held its Rally Day with good results. Steward-
ship for the mission’s program was encouraging to the minister. Davis left the
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from Lumberton, North Carolina. In addition, Colin M. Best and W.L.
Crosswell transferred their certificates to Wesley Chapel during February
and March, respectively. The pastor was somewhat disappointed in the
progress Methodism had made at Philadelphia during the winter months.
Rev. Mason admonished the membership of Philadelphia concerning atten-
dance at Sunday worship. Mason contended that there were more nonmem-
bersin attendance at Philadelphia than members onsome Sundays, ... “afact
that should cause us some concern & self examination.™!

Wesley Chapel continued to emphasize its ministry to the young people of
the church during the spring of 1912. The children participated in special
exercises on Easter Sunday as well as an Easter egg hunt.® Miss Agnes
Reynolds, Miss Dosia Register, Miss Nannie Loyd, Joe Reynolds, and John
David Taylor attended a joint meeting of the Woman's Home Mission
Society and the Epworth Leagues of the Florence District in Lamar on June
7 through 9. The delegates heard reports from several individuals familiar to
the Methodists of the Darlington Circuit including Mrs. Jane Wait and Miss
Bettie Lawson. Rev. William Augustus Massebeau delivered a sermon to the
assembled delegates on the importance of the Woman’s Home Mission
Society.” The Sunday School program lost an important asset in May, its
superintendent, W.B. Carns and his wife. Professor Carns, the principal of
Epworth School, left the area to take another position. The Sunday School
program under Carns had expanded and made use of the graded system.
Attendance increased with a new emphasis on classes suited to the church’s
adult members. The ministry to the adults resulted in three Adult Bible
Classes. Only a few years before in Wesley Chapel's history the minister was
lamenting the fact that few if any adults participated in the Sunday School
program. Under the leadership of Professor Carns, and others, the program
began to reach far beyond its traditional juvenile base. The Third Quarterly
Conference designated Luther Ficlds as the new Sunday School superinten-
dent and James R. Register as his assistant.®

With each passing year, the summer revival became more of a tradition at
Wesley Chapel. The revival of 1912 saw many backsliders renew their
commitment to the church. Rev. Mason felt the entire membership was
brought into a closer relationship with Jesus Christ. Eleven new members
were brought into the membership of Wesley Chapel during this revival on
profession of faith: Sadie Jordan, M. Martin Harrell, Jessie King, Pearce Lee,
Henry Lee Bass, Alma Munn, Winston Mclton, Clarence Lee, Maxie Nor-
wood, Belle Spradley, and Roland Register. Previously, five members joined
Wesley Chapel by transfer of their church letter: Dr. Jehu M. Woodham and
his wife, Olivia Woodham, Martha Privette Munn, Mattie Garner Gandy,
and David B. King. The spring and summer also proved to be a time for infant
baptisms. Thirty-six infants were baptized by the members of Wesley Chapel
and Philadelphia during this period, including Edward Racine Mason, the son
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of Rev. and Mrs. Mason. “May we, the officials; members, and pastor, take
these whom God has entrusted to our keeping, and rear them up in His
nurture, and for his service.”®
As Rev. Mason ended his last year on the circuit, he reflected upon the
accomplishments of Methodism at Wesley Chapel. The Epworth League of
the church had increased its membership from seventeen to fifty-two. The
league met twice monthly and had developed plans to designate a room as
their own. The newly organized Wesley Bible Class boastedsixty-one members.
This class also resolved to devote one Sunday each quarter to a mission study.
Christian education was evident in the children’s Sunday School program.
The new sense of excitement for the Sunday School program could be seen
in the Sunday School’s new motto, “Every member a member of our Sunday
School.”* Several of the young adults continued their education in college:
Joseph B. Reynolds, Wofford College, Foster Lee, the University of South
Carolina, Mona Pate, Lander College, Efford Pate, Clemson University, and
Fila Suggs, Coker College. The congregations at Wesley Chapel had in-
creased to their greatest level since Rev. Mason’s arrival on the circuit.
Spirituality and the placement of family altars in the home had also increased
during Mason's two years on the circuit. The importance of missions’ work
was not lost on the members of Wesley Chapel. The Home Missionary
Society with eleven members and the Women'’s Foreign Missionary Society
with twenty-four members had recently combined at the church. The money
from the dues and the projects of the societies was forwarded to aid the cause
of missions in South Carolina and around the world. Rev. Mason left Wesley
Chapel and the Darlington Circuit confident that the work of the Lord had
progressed during his two year tenure.*
Rev. Reuben Wilson Humphries ministered to the Darlington Circuit for
four years, 1913 through 1916. He was the eldest of Milton W. and Mary G.
Humphries’ seven children. Humphries was born in Union, South Carolina,
December 9, 1878. He obtained his early education from the Union city
schools. After graduation from high school, Humphries entered Presbyterian
College in Clinton, South Carolina. The year 1896 proved to be one of the
most important of Humphries’ life. On June 11, he graduated from Presby-
terian College. Almost immediately after his graduation, he was licensed to
preach. On October 14, Reuben Wilson Humphries married Miss Florence
Chandler of Kingstree, South Carolina. To complete an eventful year, the
South Carolina Conference year appointed Rev. Humphries as a supply
minister for 1897. Humphries brought a special talent to the Darlington
- Circuit, the special ability to minister and give guidance to the young men of
«. the community.?
#  AsRev. Humphries began his duties on the Darlington Circuit, an aged
»+ member of the Wesley Chapel congregation died, Nancy Register. Nancy
;’{:1 Register was born in 1830, the daughter of Abel and Nannie Register.” The
1?




208 History of Wesley Chapel United Methodist Church

Register family had long been associated with Wesley Chapel. Nancy Regis-
ter died December 23,1912. She was buried in the Wesley Chapel Cemetery.?

At the last Quarterly Conference of 1912, the stewards and trustees for
1913 were elected. Members of the Board of Stewards from Wesley Chapel
included: J.C. Clements, Clarence D. Lee, Luther Fields, Marion D. Stokes,
Robert Lee Melton, John T. Suggs, Charles S. Register, James R. Register,
Eli W.Register, Phillip H. Tedder, George O. Lee,and Charles W. Galloway.
Philadelphia members of the board were: John C. Dowling, Thomas E.
Woodham, W.P. DuBose, Samuel Truett, and J.M. Yarborough. Five men
from Wesley Chapel served on the Board of Trustees: J.C. Clements, Clar-
ence D. Lee, Benjamin Sydney Josey, John A. Fields, and Laurie William
Redick. Francis Asbury Dowling, W.P. DuBose, J.E. Sumner, and J. Sam
Howle represented Philadelphia on the Board of Trustees. Luther Fields
continued to serve Wesley Chapel as Sunday School superintendent and J.
Sam Howle served Philadelphia in the same capacity. Rev. Humphries
depended upon these men to assist him in the implementation of various
programs on the circuit during 1913.%

Rev. Humphries was not able to accurately determine the state of
Methodism until he had served the circuit for several months. On April 12, at
the Second Quarterly Conference at Philadelphia, Humphries reported on
the state of the churches on the circuit. He found the general state of the
churches encouraging. The services were well attended, the missionary
societies were doing good work, and the officials were efficient and faithful.
The Sunday Schools were organized into missionary societies and sent a
monthly contribution to support the work of a missionary in Brazil. Rev.
Humphries did find some fault with the state of the church, “The supreme
need of the hour is a deepening of the spiritual tone of the church.”*

Periodically Wesley Chapel expanded its regular programs to involve
more and more people in the work of the church. During the late spring and
early summer of 1913, the churchinstituted aJunior Epworth League. Wesley
Chapel did not neglect its established programs. The Children’s Day festivi-
ties raised $21.00 for the cause of missions. The Women’s Home and Foreign
Missionary Society had a surplus of $100.00 after conference commitments
had been paid. This was expected to increase after the Layman’s Rally Day
was held.®

Rev. Humphries was not the only minister concerned about the lack of
spirituality among his parishioners. The Florence District of the South
Carolina Conference, of which the Parlington Circuit was a part, also ad-
dressed this lack of spirituality at its May meeting. The Florence District
Conference passed a resolution urging ministers to emphasize evangelism.
June 15 through June 22 was set aside as a week of prayer within the district
that God may continue to exhibit his saving grace.?

Wesley Chapel’s lone local preacher, Charles W. Galloway, continued to
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* play an important role within the area. Galloway often performed marriage
ceremonies for young couples within the Lydia area and conducted funeral
services. He traveled outside the bounds of the Darlington Circuit to minister

" the Gospel to neighboring Methodist churches. Elim Methodist Church
benefited from Galloway’s talents on a hot Sabbath during mid-July. Gal-
loway journeyed to Elim and delivered a sermon to the gathered congrega-
tion.”®

As the summer ended and fall approached, Wesley Chapel did not
interrupt its ministry on the Darlington Circuit. Rev. R.E. Turnipseed
returned to the church on Sunday, September 7, to conduct a series of services
in connection with the church’s revival. Rev. Turnipseed was a favorite
among the people of Wesley Chapel. Wesley Chapelinanefforttoinvolve the
children in the revival services, held “Decision Day” on the first day of the
revival.* November 2 was a meaningful day for the members of the Junior
and Senior Epworth Leagues of Wesley Chapel. On this day the Florence
District secretary visited with the young people and presented a program to
each group. The senior group heard the secretary deliver an address entitled,
“The Third Department.” The junior group enjoyed an address entitled,
“The Junior and Seniors of Tomorrow.”

As 1913 ended, Wesley Chapel could look back on the year with pride.
Almost every phase ol the church’s ministry continued to grow, Sunday
Schools, Epworth Leagues, and the Women’s Home and Foreign Missionary
Society. Church members were present in large numbers during Sunday
worship services. The church had gained several new members during the
year: Florence Chandler Humphries, Florence Wilson Humphries, Gilliam
Gee Humphries, Barney A. Hobson, Mary Jane Hobson, Thomas B.
Holcombe, Irane McKiney Holcombe, C.F. Burgdorf, B.F. King, William
Hampton Blackwell, and Clifton Galloway.* The church also lost a well liked
gentleman during 1913, J. Ferdinand Galloway. Galloway was a veteran of
the Civil War and a member of Wesley Chapel in good standing upon his
death on August 16. He left his wile, Maggic F. Galloway and five children:
Maggie Witherspoon, Sue Jordan, Minnie Galloway, Lewis Duncan Gal-
loway, and F. Middleton Galloway.”” He was buried in Wesley Chapel
Cemetery.

The new year, 1914, saw Wesley Chapel participate in many district wide
activities. Rev. Humphries was active at the district level as secretary of the
Florence District Conference. Many of the decisions and resolutions passed
by the conference were later put into effect by the Methodists of the
Darlington Circuit. The minister was not the only one active from Wesley
Chapel at the district level. John David Taylor, former president of the
Wesley Chapel Epworth League, shared his experiences as president with
other churches in the district. In an effort to duplicate the successful Wesley
Chapel Epworth program, Taylor was asked 10 visit a number of rural
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Therefore be it resolved:

First, that his removal from our midst will leave a vacancy that will be deeply
feltby allmembers of the Board of Stewards; and that we deplore the loss of J.C.
Clements with deep feelings of regret, softened only by the confident assurance
that his spirit is with those who having fought the good fight here, are enjoying
perfect happiness in a better world.

Second, that the efforts put forth by him in the building up of the community,
by service, contribution and counsel will be held in grateful remembrance.*
Rev. Rhoad met for the first time officially with the members of the

Quarterly Conference at Wesley Chapel on February 11. Presiding Elder
Rev. Elbert L. McCoy was also in attendance at this meeting. The new pastor
was able to report that the size of the congregations had doubled since the
December Annual Conference. The stewards reported that $2,400 had been
set as the pastor’ssalary for 1922, This amount was to be divided between the
two churches with Wesley Chapel responsible for §1,440 and Hebron respon-
sible for $960. Luther Fields of Wesley Chapel was selected as a delegate to
the District Conference, in addition to Ernest E. Woodham and Asa Edward
Mozingo of Hebron. The pastor reported that Mrs. Rhoad and three of their
children had joined the fellowship of Wesley Chapel. Wheeler A. Rhinehardt
and Ethel D. Rhinehardt also joined the membership of the church by
transfer of certificate.’

The membership of Wesley Chapel was engaged in several notable activi-
ties during the winter and spring of 1922, The church welcomed Dr. E-W.
Sikes, president of Coker College, on Sunday, February 26. Dr. Sikes ad-
dressed the Men's Bible Class during Sunday School on the subject of the
Disarmament Conference. His lecture gave a description of the conference
and the results that could be expected fromthe gathering. During the worship
service, Dr. Sikes spoke to the congregation concerning John Wesley. The
unusually large crowd listened intently to the address on the founding father
of Methodism. A large delegation from Wesley Chapel attended the Sunday
School Convention in Bishopville on Friday, April 7. On April 9, several
members of the church heard the noted black minister, Rev. Richard Carroll,
preach at Josey Chapel in Lydia. During May, several members of Wesley
Chapel attended the District Missionary Convention in Sumter. Wesley
Chapel was filled to capacity on Mother’s Day. A committee met members of
the arriving congregation at the door and pinned roses on those individuals
who arrived without a flower. The Men’s Bible Class counted fifty-three
present. Total Sunday School attendance was 267. Rev. Rhoad delivered an
excellent sermon entitled, “Mother, Home, and Heaven.” The following
Sunday, May 21, services were not held at Wesley Chapel because of the
graduation exercises at the high school. A commencement sermon was
preached by Rev. Adolphus P. Turner of Mount Elon Baptist Church.’®

The members of the Quarterly Conference met July 29, at Wesley Chapel.
Rev. Rhoad reported that Mr. A.W. Ayers, the Epworth League field
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- secretary of the South Carolina Conference, visited Wesley Chapel on July 9.

- Ayers aided the young people of the church in the organization of the

* Epworth League. The league’s attendance suffered during and immediately
after the World War. Francis Marion Qates was elected president of the
Epworth League for the remainder of 1922. Rev. Rhoad reported that Miss
Minnie Galloway moved her membership from Wesley Chapel during the

* third quarter by certificate. The major interest of the conference evolved
around the status of the ongoing business transaction undertaken by the
church with Benjamin Sydney Josey. Previously the church purchased the
parsonage from Josey and decided to sell him a tract of land adjacent to the
church. The account was still outstanding, and the Quarterly Conference
gave the Wesley Chapel Church Conference the authority to . . . “balance
accounts with B.S. Josey for parsonage as far asit willdoso, if it is decided by
church conference that it is the proper thing to do.”"

The autumn proved to be a period of growth for Wesley Chapel. Ten new
members joined the church on October 8, by vows: Irene Rhinehardt, Bessie
Leola Holcombe, Mary Elizabeth Holcombe, Margaret Witherspoon, Mary
Katherine Brooks, Troy Adams, Julian Stith, Jack Truett, Jack Edwin Suggs,
and Eula Louise Suggs. Mr. and Mrs. J. Leland Gilmore joined the church on
the same date by transier of their certificate. Rev. Rhoad added even more
members to the churchroll on October 29: Heyward Truett, Annie Lee Suggs,
Ruth Stewart, Mary Stewart, Sara Helena Register, Alma Truett, Lavelle
Galloway, M.D. Stokes, Jr., R. Strom Fields, Annie King, Melissa Harrell,
Selima Galloway, Christine Adams, Edith Rhoad, Alwin Rhinehardt, Harley
S. Stewart, Herbert Galloway, Robert Fields, Edel Norwood, Louise Nor-
wood, Maggie Redick, and Howard Tedder, Mrs. Foster P. Lee, Lide Nor-
wood, Mrs. Tom Lee, and A H. Best were enrolled during November of 1922,
One member of the church transferred during the fall, Mrs. Hattie Stokes.'2

Thus a true revival is in progress each Sunday at Wesley Chapel, as should

be the case, and the live interest manifested is in evidence not only on the part

of those just uniting with the church, but on the part of the general membership,

who deeply appreciate Rev. Rhoad as a pastor and as a minister, and whose

church loyalty renders Wesley Chapel an institution of unusuai strength in the
way of social efficiency and of real religion.”

The Women'’s Missionary Society and the Epworth League gave their
yearly report to the officials of the charge gathered at Hebron on October 9.
Miss Dosia Register, treasurer of the organization, reported that the Wesley
Chapel Auxiliary was active with forty-seven members. The membership
sent a total of $123.80 to the conference treasurer during 1922, The Epworth
League reported thirty-one members. A.H. Best, Jr, was elected as president

of the league for the coming year. “The outlook for a wide awake league at
this place is very good indeed.™
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and trustees for the upcoming year, 1924. Francis Oates, Wheeler A.
Rhinehardt, Henry Lee Bass, Luther Fields, Charles S. Register, Dorsey A.
DuBose, A. Theodore Register, William Asbury Suggs, Whiteman Melton,
and George C. Best were elected to represent Wesley Chapel on the Board
of Stewards. Trustees of church property elected from Wesley Chapel were
Joseph B. Reynolds, John G. Suggs, Barney Fields, J.L. Blackman, and
Benjamin Sydney Josey. Parsonage trustees from Wesley Chapel included
Luther Fields, James R. Register, and Dorsey A. DuBose. W.B. Carns was
again selected to supervise the Sunday Schools of the church.?

Rev. Rhoad was appointed to the Wesley Chapel and Hebron Charge for
another year. The year 1924, proved to be one of his most memorable years
of service to the Methodist Church. The ongoing dispute between Wesley
Chapel and one of its trustees, Benjamin Sydney Josey, erupted during the
year after simmering under the seemingly tranquil surface for several years,
The dispute had its origins in 1920, when the church decided to acquire a new
parsonage and make repairs on the sanctuary. The church decided to buy a
house from Josey located near Lydia to use as a parsonage. Soon afterwards,
Wesley Chapel put up for sale three acres of land on which the Epworth
School stood. Josey was the highest bidder for the property. Josey paid the
church twenty percent of the $§2250 purchase price, $450. As part of the
agreement between the church and Josey, the Library Hall was to be moved
or torn down by the church. It is not clear why the church agreed to move or
tear down the Library Hall. The building was located on land donated to
Wesley Chapel by Ira Martin Harrell.

The church did delay in giving Josey a deed to the property. The delay was
caused by the refusal of one of the church trustees, John W. Reynolds, to sign
the deed conveying the property to Josey. The property in question was
originallysoldtothe church byJosephand Clarissa Hendrix in 1874. The deed
contained the phrase:

To haveand to hold forever for the use and benefit of said Church and Camp
ground, and we hereby bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators and
assigns forever to defend unto the said trustees and to their successors in office
the...tract of land.>
John W. Reynolds married Mary Alice Hendrix, the daughter of Joseph

and Clarissa Hendrix. John W. Reynolds and his wife Mary Alice, either
believed the wording of the 1874 deed precluded the church from disposing
of the property, or were unwilling to dispose of the property sold the church
by the Hendrix family. John W, Reynolds, as a successor in office to the 1874
trustees, decided not to sign the deed to Josey.®

The deed was signed by J.C. Clements, Barney Fields, Benjamin Sydney
Josey, and J.L. Blackman, trustees of Wesley Chapel, and dated June 1920.
The signature of John W. Reynolds does not appear on the deed. The deed
was finally delivered to Josey more than three years after the transaction.
Josey recorded the deed in Darlington on November 28, 1923.%



ko

“A True Revival Is In Progress Each Sunday” 233

Despite the delivery of the deed to Josey, there continued tobe a greatdeal

‘of antagonism between some of the officials of Wesley Chapel and Benjamin
.Sydney Josey. A final settlement of the financial aspects of the transaction

had not yet taken place. The First Quarterly Conference of 1924, decided to

‘appoint a committee, made up of members from Wesley Chapel and Hebron,
' to..."“settle the parsonage and church matters. That the said committee be
- authorized to employ, if necessary, legal assistance.” The trustees of the

parsonage and church were instructed to sign all deeds agreed to by the
committee. The committee was asked to report their findings to the Second

- Quarterly Conference. No agreement reached would be final unless agreed

upon by the conference.”

On April 27, a church conference was held at Wesley Chapel. The church
voted eighty-seven to zero to move the parsonage from its location to a
location closer to the church. The church decided to forego the purchase of
the parsonage from Josey. A verbal report was made to the Second Quarterly
Conference by the committee on May 10. The nature of the report was not
recorded, but apparently no suitable agreement was reached between the
committee and Benjamin Sydney Josey. Charles W. Galloway made a motion
that Benjamin Sydney Josey and J.L. Blackman be removed from the Wesley
Chapel Board of Trustees. The motion was voted upon by the officials present
and passed. A second motion was put forth by Galloway that James R.
Register and Luther Fields be removed from the Board of Trustees of the
parsonage. This motion also was approved by the assembled members of the
conference. To fill the vacancies created by the vote to oust Josey and
Blackman from Board of Trustees of Wesley Chapel, the conference elected
Ellie P. Galloway and Lee Melton. Marion D. Stokes and Brantley F. Melton
were elected to fill the vacancies on the Board of Trustees of the parsonage.
The conference also appointed a Parsonage Building Committee. The
members of the committee were: Brantley F. Melton, Willie Lee, Henry Lee
Bass, William Asbury Suggs, Marion D. Stokes, and Wheeler A. Rhinehardt
of Wesley Chapel and John C. Gallin, Charles H. Kelley, and Ernest E.
Woodham of Hebron.?

The relationship between Wesley Chapel and Benjamin Sydney Josey
continued to worsen. A Special Quarterly Conference was held at Wesley
Chapel on July 30. Presiding Elder Rev. Elbert L. McCoy served as chairman
of the conference. In addition to Rev. Rhoad, the following officials of the
Wesley Chapel and Hebron Charge were present: A. Theodore Register,
Marion D. Stokes, John C. Gatlin, William Asbury Suggs, John G. Suggs,
Wheeler A. Rhinehardt, Francis Oates, Henry L. Bass, Ernest E. Woodham,
Ellie P. Galloway, William T. Taylor, Joseph B. Reynolds, Charles W.
Galloway, Barney Fields, Robert L. Melton, Brantley F. Melton, Charles S.
Register, George C. Best, and Mattie Taylor. The following resolution was
made and unanimously adopted by the conference:

<)
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been in declining health for several years, his death on Friday, December 30,
was unexpected. Rhinehardt was survived by his wife, Ethel DuBose
Rhinehardt, and four children, Alwin Rhinehardt, W.A. Rhinehardt, Jr.,
James Rhinehardt, and Irene Rhinehardt. Wheeler A. Rhinehardt was
buried in Wesley Chapel Cemetery in services conducted by Rev. Godbold,
assisted by Rev. A.C. Magee of Mount Elon Baptist Church.*®

On January $, 1939, the ladies of Wesley Chapel celebrated the sixtieth
anniversary of the Women’s Missionary Society in South Carolina. Mrs.
Emmett Adams served as hostess of the event. She was assisted by Margaret
Lee, Helen Lee, Doris Adams, and Carolyn Adams. After the guests were
served refreshments, Doris Adams sang a song accompanied instrumentally
by Christine Adams. Readings were given by Margaret Lee and Helen Lee.
The highlight of the program was a paper presented by Mrs. Erin W. Register
on the history of the auxiliary at Wesley Chapel. Register outlined the
contributions of the auxiliary during its nearly one half century of service to
Wesley Chapel:
The value of our society cannot be estimated. We have helped to build a
church, buy a piano, carpet, .. .chairs, and light plant, and other furnishings. . . .
We have helped with the parsonage furnishings and given of our time [and]
money to community social work. Our pledge for Foreign Missions have [sic]
increased each year. ... We now have 1wo circles, Jane Waite and Betty Josey
meeting each month in the homes and membership of 40. .. .7
Rev. Godbold and the officials of the charge also began the new year with
a good outlook. The stewards of the charge worked with the pastor in setting
a budget. The pastor’s salary and the benevolences were paid from this
budget. Again the charge tried to successfully introduce the envelope system
to the membership of Wesley Chapel and Hebron. The introduction of this
system was greeted with some support by the membership. Some families
used the envelopes each week, some every other week, and some families
used it monthly. The pastor was hopeful the congregations would accept this
system. The First Quarterly Conference elected four additional stewards
from Wesley Chapel on January 29, 1939. Clifton Galloway, Harley S.
Stewart, Luther Fields, Jr., and Jess Taylor were asked to serve on the Board
of Stewards. In addition, Francis M. Oates agreed to serve as acting superin-
tendent of the Wesley Chapel Sunday Schools. Rev. Godbold reported
several membership changes to the First Quarterly Conference. In addition
tothe death of Wheeler A. Rhinehardt.and James Raleigh Register, Godbold
reported the loss of Lester Watford to death. Seven members of Wesley
Chapel transferred their membership from the church by certificate: Mr. and
Mrs. Otto Roy Fields, Roy Fields, Jr., LuEllen Fields, Mr. and Mrs. J.R.
Boykin, and Mrs. Bessie Josey. Twoindividuals joined Wesley Chapel during
this period, Mrs. Clifton Galloway and Mrs. Troy Privette.*?

Two members of the Wesley Chapel family died during the first three
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months of 1939, Mattie J. Blackwell, and Eliza J. Suggs. Mattic J. Blackwell

“wasbornin North Carolina, August 23, 1865, the daughter of John and Sarah
Ann Terry. She died at her home near Lydia on February 25, after a long
illness. Her family moved to Darlington County after the Civil War and
became active members of Snow Hill Methodist Church. After the demise of
Snow Hill the Terry family moved their membership to Wesley Chapel.
Mattie J. Terry first married George King and was married second to Willie
H. Blackwell. Mattie J. Blackwell was survived by her husband as well as four
children by her former marriage: Maxie King, Belton King, Mrs. Arthur
Newsome, and Mrs. Mattie Newsome.” Eliza J. Suggs, the widow of John T.
Suggs,died March 8. She was born, February 6, 1860, the daughter of Nicholas
and Mary Mixon Best. Suggs was survived by five daughters; Bessie Josey,
Fannye Mae Suggs, Mamie Stewart, Lois Suggs, Phila Chandler; and one son,
William Asbury Suggs.®

As winter gave way to spring, Rev. Godbold reported that the condition
of Wesley Chapel’s Sunday Schools showed marked improvement. Various
classes sponsored regular worship programs. This increased interest and

' attendance at Sunday School. The church also observed Missionary Sunday
every fourth Sunday with the offering submitted to the Board of Christian
Education. The stewards were encouraged with the continued good response
of the congregation to the envelope system. Two special services were held
Sunday, April 9, Easter Sunday. Church School Day was observed during the
morning, and during the evening the young pcople presented an Easter
pageant.”

During the spring and summer of 1939 the membership of Wesley Chapel
and Hebron discussed the possibility of erecting a new parsonage. These
discussions culminated in the formation of several committees to proceed
with the planning and building of the parsonage and the collection of the
necessary funds. The members of the Designing Commitiece were Rev.
Godbold, Mrs. H. Marvin Mozingo, of Hebron, and Mrs. Evelyn Oates, of
Wesley Chapel. Asa Edward Mozingo, of Hebron, and Homie M. Kelley and
Luther Fields, Sr., of Wesley Chapel, served as members of the Building
Committee. Rev. Godbold also served on the Building Committee as an ex
officio member. The members of the Collecting Committee from Wesley
Chapel were: Clara Mozingo, Johnnie E. Mozingo, Harley S. Stewart, Alwin
Rhinehardt, and Luther Fields, Sr. Mrs. H. Marvin Mozingo, Mrs. Charlie
Woodham, and Mrs. Eva Gatlin, of Hebron, agreed to also serve on the
Collecting Committee. Luther Ficlds, Sr. served as chairman of these com-
mittees with Charles S. Register acting as secretary. The committees esti-
mated that the cost of the new parsonage would be at least $1,500, excluding
the lot. The charge hoped to collect $500 from the membership of the two
churches. Wesley Chapel members were responsible for contributing $330,
WithHebron responsible for the balance of $170. A deadline of September 15,

Eﬂ
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The activities of the church continued despite Rev. Scott’s impending
departure. The M.Y.F. of Wesley Chapel stepped up its activities during May.
Bessie King gave aseries of programs on “Friendship” during the month. She
was assisted by Peggy Ann Mozingo, Frances King, Marie Taylor, Janice
Privette, and Uldine Privette. Representatives from Wesley Chapel's M.Y.F.
attended the Sumter District M.Y.F. Rally at Bethlehem Methodist Church
in Bishopville, May 11. Frances King, Bessie King, and Marie Taylor were
elected to district wide offices by those in attendance. Rev. Scott welcomed
eight new membersinto the membership of Wesley Chapel onJune 13: Emily
Faye Byrd, Della Rochelle Moore, Wilhelmina Pate, Leon Privette, Jr.,
Barbara Lee Redick, Dorothy F. Tedder, Tommy L. Tedder, and Clinton A.
Woodham. The W.S.C.S. held its meeting during June. The topic of June’s
meeting was “Alcoholism.”*?

Rev. Scott’s ministry to Wesley Chapel came to a close in the summer of
1948, however his service to the Methodist Church continued {or many years.
Scott moved his family to the community of Alma, in western Nebraska. The
Scotts served the Methodist Church in Nebraska until the summer of 1953,
when they transferred to the Virginia Conference. One year after the transfer
to Virginia, Rev. Scott was appointed to the Conference Board on Town and
Country Work. He continued in this capacity for thirteen years. In 1967, Rev.
Scott returned to the active ministry. In subsequent years he served various
churchesin Virginia before retiring at age sixty-five. The Scotts spent most of
their retirement years in Courtland, Virginia at a retirement home for
Methodist ministers.*

As Rev. Scott and his family departed for Nebraska, the Wesley Chapel
and Hebron Charge welcomed Rev. Edward Laney Davidson into its midst.
Edward Laney Davidson was born September 9, 1924, in Cheraw, South
Carolina. He was the son of James Edward and Cynthia Aline Laney
Davidson. Davidson attended the public schools of Cheraw and graduated
from Cheraw High School in 1941, He continued his education at Bob Jones
College in Cleveland, Tennessee during the years 1941 through 1944, He
transferred to Wofford College in 1944 and graduated in 1945. Davidson
attended Dallas Theological Seminary, 1945 through 1946, and Candler
School of Theology, Emory University, 1946 through 1948. He received his
B.D. degree from Emory University in 1948. Davidson was first licensed to
preach by the Florence District Committee in Datlington on September 3,
1943. He was admitted on trial into the South Carolina Conference and
ordained a deacon on October 29, 1948, Prior to his service on the Wesley
Chapel and Hebron Charge, Rev. Davidson served as a supply minister to
Bethune and Inman Mills of the South Carolina Conference and to Cusseta
of the South Georgia Conference.*

One day before Rev. Davidson’s arrival, the Third Quarterly Conference
met at Wesley Chapel under the leadership of Rev. J.T. Pecler, district
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E‘superimendent. The conference selected Alec Mozingo as a delegate to the

Annual Conference with Harley S. Stewart serving as an alternate. Rev.
-Davidson began his service to the Methodists of the charge on July 13.
I Davidson considered himself an evangelistic minister and encouraged indi-
! viduals to make a personal committment to Jesus Christ. Rev. Davidson was
! soon adopted by the Methodists of the Wesley Chapel and Hebron Charge.
: Because of his young age and bachelor status, the new minister was asked
! often to eal in the homes of the parishioners. Among those who regularly
. extended invitations to Rev. Davidson were the families of John and Bessie
* L. Norris and Luther and Annie S. Fields.”
. The Wesley Chapel M.Y.F. met with Rev. Davidson on July 25, at the
. church. The group listened to a program presented by Marjorie Kelley,
! enjoyed fellowship, and were led in prayer by Rev. Davidson. Rev. Davidson
. enjoyed a special rapport with these young people. He was only slightly older
; than the members of the M.Y.F. and was readily accepled into their midst.”?
1 On October 10, Robert G. Fields, a member of Wesley Chapel, died in an
; automobile wreck near Lee’s Crossroads. Fields operated astore in Lydia at
. the time of his death. He was born July 14, 1911, the son of Barney and
- Blanche Huggins Fields. On December 24, 1931, Fields married Annie Lee
- Suggs. Robert G. and Annie Lee Fields were the parents of two sons, Robert
Lee (Bobby) Fields and William (Bill) Gettys Ficlds. Funeral services were
conducted by Rev. Davidson and former minister Rev. Ernest Stackhouse
Dunbar of Bennettsville. Fields was survived by his widow, two sons, parents,
and three siblings.%®

Nominations for the year 1948-1949 were presented to the Fourth Quar-
terly Conference meeting in mid-October at Hebron. Strom Fields was
nominated to serve on the Board of Stewards of the church by the Quarterly
Conference. Homie M. Kelley and Luther Fields replaced Charles H. Kelley
and Barney Fields on the Board of Trustces. The leadership of the Sunday
School at Wesley Chapel remained unchanged with the exception of the
generalsuperintendent. Hallie DeWitt replaced Strom Fieldsin that position.
Eloise Kelley Bass, the recent bride of Harry Lee Bass, agreed to serve as a
teacher in the Junior Department of the Sunday School. Edith Adams
continued to serve the church as communion steward during 1948-1949, The
brief ministry of Rev. Davidson on the charge was now at an end. He
continued to serve the South Carolina Conference for over four decades.
Wesley Chapel would not forget this young minister. During the ministry of
Rev. Charles Herbert Boulware and Rev. Clifton Eugene Jones, Davidson
returned to the church to conduct revival services.®
Rev. Charles Shuford Felder served the Wesley Chapel and Hebron

Charge during the 1948-1949 year. Felder was born June 24, 1877, near
Pinewood in Clarendon County, South Carolina. He was the son of Charles
Richard and Mary Margaret Shuford Felder. Young Felder felt the influence
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Wesley Chapel took several positive steps over the course of the next few
years. The church had certainly matured during its numerous decades of
service to the Methodists of Darlington County. Many citizens of the Lydia
community continued to look to the church as a foundation for their lives.
Membership and participation grew at Wesley Chapel to the point that
several major changes to the facilities were considered by the membership.
The church also undertook a change in its status within the South Carolina
Methodist Conference. Asin the past, Wesley Chapel continued toreach out
to the many different groups within the community with wide ranging
programs. A period of growth and development was underway. The church
was again blessed with strong leadership that used foresight to guide its
decisions. The membership responded to this leadership in a positive way.
They assured the success of the changes that were underway within the
church. The ministers that served the church during this period cannot be
ignored. Their dedication to the work of the Lord and concern for the cause
of Methodism within the community inspired the people of the church to
meet new challenges.

The members of the Wesley Chapel and Hebron Charge welcomed Rev.
Kayton Spencer Carmichael into their midst as the 1950-1951 conference
year began. Carmichael was born at Fork, in Dillon County, South Carolina,
on August 5,1889. His parents were Gilbert and Florence Rogers Carmichael.
Young Carmichael attended the Fork Grammar and High School. Upon
graduation from highschool he enrolled at Massey Business College. He later
attended Wofford College in 1921. On January 27,1915, Carmichael married
Annie R. Gaddy. They became the parents of five children: Alton Channing,
Marsden Beverly, Emma-Lou, Kayton Spencer. Jr., and" William Wayne.
Carmichael first joined the church in 1904. He experienced a true conversion
four years later. Carmichael was not called to the ministry until 1918. He was
first licensed to preach by the Marion District Conference on April 27, 1921.
In December of the same year Carmichael was admitted on trial by the South
Carolina Conference. In November and December of 1923, respectively,
Rev. Carmichaelwasreceived intothe full connectionand ordained adeacon.

332
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' Carmichael’s ordination as an elder occurred in Darlington on November 29,

-1925. Prior to his appointment to the Wesley Chapel and Hebron Charge,
Carmichael served Lynchburg. Rev. Carmichael’s doctors urged him to
conserve his strength during his ministry in Lydia. During this time, his wife
became his closest companion assisting him in many ways.!

The Carmichael family was made to feel at home by the members of the
sister churches, Wesley Chapel and Hebron. The Carmichaels moved into the
parsonage on November 8, and received the traditional warm welcome the
Methodists of the area reserved for new ministers and their families. Rev.
Carmichael foundstrong leadershipin place atboth churches. The leadership
of Wesley Chapel anticipated a productive year. Members of the Board of
Stewards from Wesley Chapel for the 1950-1951 year were: Clarence Emmett
Adams, Edith Adams, George Best, Robert Byrd, Milton Campbell, Luther
Fields, Strom Fields, Ellie P. Galloway, Claude Hill, Homie M. Kelley,
Thomas Kelley, Belton King, George Moore, Alec Mozingo, Lawrence
Norwood, Francis M. Oates, Leon W. Privette, Harley S. Stewart, James
Stewart, and Jesse Taylor. Hallie DeWitt served as Sunday School superin-
tendent. The Board of Trustees from the church included: Ellie P. Galloway,
Rivers L. Kelley, Luther Fields, Homie M. Kelley, Johnnie E. Mozingo, and
Harley S. Stewart. Grace Askins Galloway presided as president of the
W.S.C.S. and Betty Lou Privette served as president of the M.Y.F.2 Rev.
Carmichael soon called upon these leaders, as well as other members of the
congregation, to put forth their best efforts to ensure the successful comple-
tion of the planned Educational Building and-the regular programs of the
church.

As the pastor and his family settled into the parsonage, the Wesley Chapel
family was struck with several deaths. Within five weeks four members of the
church were lost to death, Foster P. Lee, John Wallace Davis, Nannie Parker
Davis, and Thomas E. Woodham. Lee, a veteran of World War | and a former
member of the General Assembly, died November 12, at his home in Lydia.
He was born July 13, 1895, the son of George O. and Helen Harrell Lee.
Funeral services were conducted by Rev. Carmichael with burial in the
Wesley Chapel Cemetery. Lee’s widow, Margaret Harvey Lee; daughter,
Helen Harvey Williams; and mother were among surviving family members.
John Wallace Davisdied on November 27, at the age of seventy-seven. Davis
and his wife, Lillian S.A. Davis, joined Wesley Chapel during the tenure of
Rev. James E. Scott, Jr. Davis was buried in the Mount Elon Baptist Church
Cemetery. In addition to his wife, he was survived by six children, nine
grandchildren, a brother, and a sister. Nannie Parker Freeman, aged sixty-
one, died Wednesday, December 6. She was born in the county, a daughter
of John Q. and Mary Oates Parker. Freeman was survived by her husband,
Wesley Hamer Freeman, and three foster children, Patty Jo Gainey, Robert
K. Kea, and Tracy Kea. Funeral services were held at the church conducted
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by Rev. Carmichael, Rev. William Roy Phillips, Rev. William Lycurgus
Parker, and Rev. G.M. Profitt. Burial was in Wesley Chapel Cemetery.
Thomas E. Woodham, of Oates, died at the age of seventy-two one week
later, on Wednesday, December 13. Woodham left a wife, Annie Bell
Grantham Woodham, nine children, and a host of grandchildren and great
grandchildren as surviving family members. Rev. Carmichael conducted the
funeral at Wesley Chapel assisted by former Wesley Chapel minister, Rev.
Charles Shuford Felder of Manning. Thomas E. Woodham was buried in
Hebron Cemetery.?

The pastor and his family were surprised by the members of Wesley
Chapel and Hebron with a pounding during the Christmas holidays. Al-
though the recent deaths within the church helped Rev. Carmichael become
acquainted with the membership of the church, the pounding served the same
purpose under much more pleasant circumstances.*

As the new year began, the officials of Wesley Chapel began to pursue in
earnest the new construction approved by the church on July 16, 1950. The
cost of the new building was estimated at $22,000, with an additional $2,000
required tomake the approved improvementsto the existing church building.
The proposed design of the new building drawn by Carl Newsome, Jr. showed
atwostory facility with separate rooms for the ever expanding children’s and
young people’s Sunday School classes, a kitchen, an assembly arca, and
bathroomfacilities. By January 31, the members of Wesley Chapel had raised
$3,000 in cash and had pledges of an additional $2,000. Additional funding
was sought by the church’s legal counsel, Jerome F. Pate, from the Board of
Missions and Church Extension of the Methodist Church. The Board of
Missions and Church Extension, due to limited funds, was unable to be of
assistance to Wesley Chapel at this time. The officials of the church, led by
Building Commitiee Chairman Harley S. Stewart, sought the necessary funds
locally. The committee also considered measures that would reduce the cost
of the new construction to the church.®

As the Building Committee struggled with the problem of a loan for the
proposed construction and remodeling, the activities of Wesley Chapel
continued as they had for numerous years before. The Sunday School
program of the churchsurged forward as average attendance approached 200
per Sunday. An appreciable increase was noted at worship services also. The
three circles of the W.S.C.S. were active during the early months of 1951 with
a series of meetings and activities. Wesley Chapel gained a new member
during February, Mrs. Russell Booth. One member transferred her certifi-
cate during March, Lillian S.A. Davis.®

Death took a member of the Wesley Chapel community during February,
Dora E. Pate. Pate was born December 25, 1868, in the Cypress section of
Darlington County, the daughter of John H. and Alice Galloway Huggins.
She became the wife of Dove Segars Pate and joined into membership with
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‘Wesley Chapel, by transfer of certificate, on March 10, 1895. A widow for
“over thirty years, Pate raised a large family of children in the Methodist
Church. She had been in declining health for several years prior to her death
‘on February 18. Funeral services were conducted by Rev. Carmichael at
Wesley Chapel, assisted by Rev. Bertie Snow Hughes of Lamar Methodist
Church and Rev. Llewellyn E. Pope, Jr. of Trinity Methodist Church in
Darlington. Pate was buried nextto herhusband in Wesley Chapel Cemetery.
Seven children survived to mourn their loss: Jerome F. Pate, Mona Furman,
Efford H. Pate, Willie L. Pate, Cecil P. Pate, Olin Hazel Pate, and Faye Pate.’

As spring began, Wesley Chapel experienced a substantial growth in
membership. The church received fifteen new members into membership.
Those joining the church by profession of faith and transfer of certificate on
April § were : Mrs. Murray Byrd, Edgar Hendrix, Henry Timmons (Tim} and
Bunnie Clanton Thomas, Catherine Register, L.D. and Dorothy Galloway,
Elva Dudley, Doris Ann Dudley, Lois Stewart, Frank Butler Stewart, Wil-
liamGeorge and Vivian Newsome, and George Everette and Alice Newsome.
Rev. Carmichael also used this Sunday to baptize a number of infants: Nancy
Carroll Thomas, James Roddy Register, Wilson (Bill) Norwood, Terry
Register Thomas, and Mitchell Hill. Spring also brought the annual revivalto
Wesley Chape! and a renewal of faith. Rev. Llewellyn E, Pope, Jr. of nearby
Darlington was invited to share a series of sermons with the Methodists of the
Lydia cornmunity. The week long revival began on Monday, April 16. Wesley
Chapel again opened its doors to new members upon the completion of
revival services. Frances Best, Clyde R. and Margaret Carter, Clyde R.
Carter, Jr., Lou Ellen Norwood, Eleanor Norwood, Nina Jo King, Mr. and
Mrs. H.H. Sartor, and John Harrison Sartor joined the church during this
period. One member was lost during April by transfer of certificate, Charlotte
Mae Mims.®

In the midst of Wesley Chapel’s revival, the membership was reminded of
mortality of the flesh and the immortality of the spirit. Steward Belton King
died April 20, after an illness of several weeks. He was filty-nine years old.
King was born in Darlington County, the son of George and Mattie Terry
King. King married AlmaKelley. In 1919, Belton King joined Wesley Chapel
Methodist Church. Rev. Carmichael and Rev. E.M. Leonard, Jr., pastor of
Mount Elon Baptist Church, conducted funeral services at Wesley Chapel.
He was buried in Wesley Chapel Cemetery. In addition to his wife, King left
three daughters, Annie McFarland, Frances King, and Bessie King, and one
son, George King.*

The Building Committee had worked through the late winter and early
Spring on securing a local loan and reducing the cost of building the new
addition to the church. The committee was successful on both counts. With
the permission of the Quarterly Conference, partial financing ($12,000) was
Obtained from Mutual Savings and Loan Association in Hartsville. The
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ship included: Mr. and Mrs. Joe Askins, Joyce Marie Askins, Betty Jean
Blackwell, Wade Hampton Blackwell, Stephanie Burch, Christopher Steven
(Steve) Burch, Robert Henry Byrd, Jr,, Larry Ray Chapman, Richarg
Cooley, Winston Cooley, James Luther Fields, Jane Elizabeth Fields, Rich.
ard Strom Fields, Brenda Annette Galloway, Julia Ann Kelley, Thomas H_
Kelley, Mary Ann King, Billy Sherwood Mahn, Carl W. Newsome, I11, Johp
Norwood, Jr., Della Marie Norwood, Wilson C. Norwood, Ronald Page
Charles Chandler Peel, Joseph Boyd Stewart, Jr.,Judy Marie Stewart, Alber;
Tedder, James Stanley Tedder, and Mclver Emberry Woodham. Several
joined Wesley Chapel by transfer from other churches. A listing of these
individuals include: Frankie Bass, Boyd Copeland, Annie S. Fields, Windal
Leslie Galloway (Buddy), Mrs. Billy Sherwood Mahn, Lila Norwood, Pear|
Norwood, Mrs. Ralph Page, Emma Stewart, Betty Walters (Mrs. William D,
Walters), Dora Melton Stackhouse, and Betty Walters (Mrs. Carroll Wal-
ters).”

Rev. Brooks recorded the loss of two church members during the spring,
Ruth Stewart Jordan and Dora H. Howell. Jordan transferred her member-
ship to Trinity Methodist Churchin Darlington. Dora H. Howell died on May
26,at herhome atthe age of ninety. In her death Wesley Chapel was reminded
of its proud Methodist heritage. Dora H. Howell was born Martha Endora
Alberter Hendrix, on February 3, 1863, within sight of Wesley Chapel. Her
father,Joseph Hendrix, and grandfather, Ephriam Hendrix, were well known
local ministers at Wesley Chapel. She married Hardy Howell and together
they became the parents of a large family of children. Hardy Howell died in
1937. Funeral services were conducted in the church of her father and
grandfather, Wesley Chapel, by Rev. Brooks and Rev. Dallas L. Mackey. She
was laid to rest near the graves of five predeceased childrenin Wesley Chapel
Cemetery. Two sons, Grady and Gary Howell; two daughters, Elizabeth
Howell and Hattie Gray; and a host of grandchildren, great-grandchildren,
and great-great grandchildren survived.*

The Official Board of Wesley Chapel struggled with financial concerns
during the latter part of the conference year. Atthe June 5 meeting, Treasurer
James H. Kelley reported that the Mother’s Day offering of $135.00 had been
sent to the Epworth Children’s Home. Kelley also reported that Wesley
Chapel faced several bills that needed to paid, including bills for the new
chairs in the Educational Building, a new mimeograph machine, and various
conference apportionments. Ashland and Hebron Churches contributed
their financial share for the recent improvements made to the parsonage. It
was decided that the Finance Committee should meet and report to the next
meeting concerning the financial health of Wesley Chapel. The Official
Board set September 27 as homecoming for Wesley Chapel. It was hoped that
a drive coinciding with homecoming could substantially reduce the Educa-
tional Building debt. Hallie DeWitt agreed to supervise the preparations for
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: 'church's homecoming activities.*!

BThe Official Board met again on September 3. Again the financial condi-
BK: of the church was the paramount concern. The church still faced the bill
¥ the new chairs and other accumulated bills. In addition, the church owed
2. Brooks one month's salary and needed to raise over $600 to pay the

ie the necessary funds to meet these obligations by the end of the
erence year. It was suggested that an up-to-date accounting be printed in
Sheé church bulletin to inform the congregation of the financial condition of
Hhe church. A motion was made and passed that $300 raised from the
Micoming homecoming day be set aside as a reserve fund for the treasurer.
is would enable him to pay various bills when they came due. James H.
%ﬁey pointed out that Wesley Chapel was paying the entire premium for the
parsonage’s insurance. This matter was referred to the trustees of the
onage in an effort to seek a equatable solution,*?
The last quarterly conference of the 1952-1953 year was held at Wesley
apel on September 13. Rev. Brooks reported that attendance had de-
ased slightly during the summier, but that interest in the work of the church
feontinued to be strong. The minister reported the loss of one member of
¥Wesley Chapel by death, William Thomas Tedder. Tedder was born October
’22, 1878in Darlington County. He married May Bell Andrews on January 31,
:1907, and became the father of a large family of children. Tedder was a
iﬁ:ccessful farmer and was active in agricultural circles. After several years of
*declining health, William Thomas Tedder died on August 14, 1953. In
;'addition to his widow, Tedder was survived by four sons; Howard, Cole L.,
*Foster, and Stanford; and three daughters, Gladys Beckham, Bonnie Polson,
-and Odelia Moulton. Funeral services were conducted by Rev. Brooks with
-burial in Wesley Chapel Cemetery.*3
5 The membership of Wesley Chapel was able to meet the church’s financial
-obligations by the end of the conference year. The church made payments on
jt:he ’_EducationalBuilding debttotaling $2,495,leaving abalance of $7,735. An
 additional $1,000 was spent by Wesley Chapel on other capitalimprovements
;10 the parsonage and the church building. Despite difficulties during the
=::-,;ln'ﬂmer months, Rev. Brooks’ salary and the conference apportionments
- Were paid in full by the churches of the Lydia Charge. The officials of Wesley
éﬂ:apel felt that continued improvements to the facilities were in order when
5‘,!lltty met on October 18, The Official Board gave Frances King permission to
f{m funds to purchase an organ for the church. King was given one year to
b’?{l:e& the necessary moncy. When the fund raising was completed, a commit-
§i§53would be appointed to purchase the organ. A tentative budget for the
§m¢954 year was submitted by the Wesley Chapel Finance Committee,
W, le . Ne“’SOme.Jr.tJames H. Kelley, Harley S. Stewart, and Rev, Brooks.
:1%“ ¥ Chapel’s portion of Rev. Brooks’ salary remained at $2,500. Addi-
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on these cards was slightly changed from the previous year. Rev. Boulware
brought the subject of the spring revival before the Official Board. An all out
effort would begin on January 1, 1961, to prepare the church for this revival,
A “Church Attendance Crusade™ was to begin with the new year and would
be promoted from the pulpit, through the church bulletin, and by sending
cards to absent members. The minister suggested that a song leader be
employed for the revival. The board delayed action on this matter until a
future date.”

As 1960 gave way for 1961, Rev. Boulware recorded the membership
changesthathad occurred during hisshort time in Lydia. The churchregained
the membership of the Beckham family during the second half of 1960,
Thurell Beckham and Kathryn Beckham moved their certificate 1o Wesley
Chapel. Forrest Clinton (F.C.) and Mary McCoy Wyont, and their children,
Larry Clinton Wyont, Linda Wyont, and Charles Wyont, transferred their
certificates of membership to Wesley Chapel. Rev. Boulware also noted the
addition of his family to the membership roll of the church. Four departures
occurred since Rev. Boulware assumed the ministry of Wesley Chapel:
Myrtle Hatchett, William Harvey Hatchett, Edell A, Stewart, and Geraldine
Dudley Petty.™

The upcoming revival continued Lo occupy the officials of the church at
their January and March meetings. The revival was scheduled for March 20
through March 26. The leadership decided that Rev. Boulware waould be
asked topreach during this revival, Carolyn Quick’s services were engaged as
song leader during the week long services. The board also dealt with other
items of interest at these two board meetings. Glenn Best was appointed a
trustee tofill the term of Luther Fields. Various repairs and improvemenls to
the church property was handled by the membership of the board. The
Wesley Fellowship Class was given permission toinstall a light at the front of
the church. Repairs to a leaking roof and to the church pews were approved.™

In addition to the spring revival, the church participated in other notewor-
thy activities. Regular Family Night Suppers, M. Y F. meetings, district youth
gatherings, and pulpit exchanges with Mount Elon Baptist Church served o
bring the membership Wesley Chapel together in a common ministry. Partly
through the annual Easter sunrise service with Mount Elon Baptist Church,
Rev. Boulware developed a close friendship with Rev. Thomas T. Faucette.”

Lula Taylor Haynes died at the age of sixty on February 15, 1961. She was
the daughter of William T. and Elizabeth Hudson Taylor. Haynes was a
member of the Ladies Bible Class. Shc was survived by her second husband,
B.A. Haynes, and two sons from her first marriage to George Maxie King,
Hampton King and George Maxie King, Jr. and four grandchildren. In
addition, five sisters, one brother, and three stepchildren survived. She was
buried next to her first husband in Wesley Chapel Cemetery in services
conducted by Rev. Boulware.”® “We shall always remember her staunch
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character, her sincerity, her generosity, and above all her loyalty to her Lord
and His Church.””

The status of the budget was the subject of most of the discussion at the
April meeting of the Official Board. It was reported that the church needed
$2,400 by June 24 in order tomeet all its obligations. The Finance Committee
was asked to send a letter to each church member asking that those who had
not met their pledges to please do so before the end of the conference year.
Harley S. Stewart made a motion that was seconded and approved by the
members to keep the pastor’s salary at the same level for the 1961-1962 year.
Trustee Johnnie E. Mozingo reported that the new section of the cemetery
had been marked off into two and four grave plots for sale to the membership.
The price of the two grave plots was $20, with the large plots selling for $35.
In other business, Rev. Boulware introduced Annette Galloway, president of
the M.Y.F. Galloway gave the board a report on the activities of this
organization.™®

Clarence A. Burkett died May 16, at the age of seventy-one. Rev. Boul-
ware and Rev, Thomas T. Faucette, pastor of Mount Elon Baptist Church,
conducted the services from the chapel of Brown-Pennington Funeral Home.
Burkett was buried in St. Matthews Methodist Church Cemetery. He was
survived by his widow, Lucile Dampier Burkett.”

Wesley Chapel participated in an area baccalaureate held at Bethlehem
Methodist Church in the Byrdtown community on Sunday, May 21, 1961.
Rev. Boulware delivered the sermon to the assembled graduates, parents,
and friends. Graduating from Hartsville High School from Wesley Chapel
were: Doris Ann Dudley, Annette Galloway, Judy Kelley, Mary Elizabeth
Stewart, Lynn Thomas, and William D. Walters. Wesley Chapel also honored
graduates from Lamar High School: Dickie Fields, Joe Plummer, Joe Ste-
wart, Jr., and Mack Woodham.*

With the end of the conference year quickly approaching, Rev. Boulware
compiled the yearly statistical report for Wesley Chapel. The total member-
ship of the church had increased by four to 466 during the 1960-1961 year.
Three new members had been added by vows, Reba Best, Dorothy Elizabeth
DeWitt, and Joe Allen Smith. Sunday School attendance, under the leader-
ship of Johnny Suggs, continued to improve. The Sunday Schools boasted an
average attendance of 205. The M.Y.F. of Wesley Chapel was in a healthy
state with fifty members. Sixty-five younger children of the church attended
the annual Vacation Bible School. Attendance during Sunday worship
servicesremainedstrongduring the first year of Rev. Boulware’s ministry. He
reported that an average of 190 people were in the congregation on Sunday
mornings. The stewardship of the church was strong despite earlier difficul-
ties. The pastor’s salary was fully paid and the church met its conference
obligations. The parsonage debt was reduced by $2,000, and as 1961-1962
began, stood at $7,000.8




- SN Irer 5 Litiag

\
X Clenden™

W..Jﬂ.‘.. r ~.\.-.. n_.,.w..n“ g~

¥

Pine Log Churck 3 ¥

ank§ 4
Hughd
{usider y .,_

=




